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Andes Energia plc (“Andes”
or the “Company” and with
its subsidiaries the “Group”)
is a Latin American oil and
gas group, with interests
in Argentina, Colombia,
Brazil and Paraguay.
The Group’s focus is on the oil and gas sector in
South America, which it believes offers premium
assets at undervalued prices. Its principal assets
include oil and gas interests, which incorporate;
seven blocks in Chubut, one block in Rio Negro,
three blocks in Salta, fifteen blocks in Mendoza and
two blocks in Neuquén, all located in Argentina; eight
blocks in Colombia; seven blocks in Brazil; and one
block in Paraguay.
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Our Financials

• Successful completion of the demerger of the Group’s utility
assets
• Change of board and management team
• Awarded 8 licence blocks in Colombia in Open Round Colombia
2012 tender
• Discovery of oil and gas in well YPF.NQ.MMO.x-1 in the Vaca
Muerta formation in the Mata Mora block. Net prospective
resource of 62.75 mmboe attributed to Andes’s participation
• Discovery of oil and gas in well YPF.NQ.Corr.x-1 in the Vaca
Muerta formation in the Corralera block. Net prospective
resource of 108.41 mmboe attributed to Andes’s participation
• Acquisition of AHI with conventional and unconventional
interests in Argentina and Paraguay
• Current production approximately 1,700 bopd

Our Governance

Operational highlights
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Chairman’s Statement

“The successful demerger
of the utility operations has
resulted in a strong and
focused oil and gas Group that
is well positioned to develop
and enhance the enormous
potential of its portfolio of
assets.”

During the year, Andes completed the
acquisition of Andes Hidrocarburos
Investments S.A. (“AHI”). AHI owns; a
100% conventional and unconventional
interest in the Repatriación block in the
Chaco-Parana basin in Paraguay; a
100% conventional and unconventional
interest in the Los Buitres, Mina Baku and
La Brea blocks in the Neuquen basin;
a 100% interest in the Agrio formation
and a 40% carried interest in the other
formations in a 296 km2 area of the El
Manzano block in the Neuquen basin.

Overview
Our financial results incorporating
the results of Andes together with its
subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2012 are set out below.

Just before the year end the Board
announced the award of eight blocks
in Colombia following the Group’s
participation in the Agencia Nacional de
Hidrocarburos (“ANH”) 2012 Bidding
Process.

In 2012 the Group achieved the
successful demerger of the utility
generating and distribution operations,
which has resulted in certain of the
comparative figures being re-presented.
The results of the utility operations up to
the date of the demerger have now been
classified as discontinued operations in
the comparative income statements and
cash flow statement. The balance sheet
information for the utility operations at
31 December 2011 is, however, still
included in the respective line categories
in the balance sheet.
The Group recorded a loss before tax
from continuing operations of US$4.4
million for the year compared to a loss
before tax and exceptional items of
US$2.6 million in 2011. The discontinued
utility operations recorded a loss
attributable to equity holders of the parent
of US$22.9 million compared to a profit
of US$3.2 million recorded in 2011. The
main reason for this loss is the recognition
of a recycled foreign exchange loss of
US$ 26.5 million on the demerger.

Outlook
The successful demerger of the utility
operations has resulted in a strong
and focused oil and gas Group that
is well positioned to develop and
enhance the enormous potential of its
portfolio of assets with conventional and
unconventional prospects.
Following the year end we completed
successfully the acquisitions of Kilwer
S.A. and Ketsal S.A.. The combination
of the Kilwer, Ketsal and Andes assets is
strategically very valuable, adding new
exploration and production fields and
increasing and strengthening our position
in a number of licences.
I would also like to welcome Alejandro
Jotayan, Rudolph Berends, German
Ranftl, Alan Stark, David Jackson, Javier
Alvarez and Carolina Landi to the board
and at the same time to thank Leandro
Carbone, Neil Bleasdale, Luis Alvarez Poli
and Marcelo Comba for their valuable
contribution during their tenure.

We are confident that we now have the
assets and management in place to allow
us to increase production, add a further
uplift to our resources and reserves and
continue with our exploration strategy
with a view to adding new discoveries in
the short to medium term.
Nicolas Mallo Huergo
Chairman
11 June 2013

Our Governance

Our Business

3

Our Financials

www.andesenergiaplc.com.ar | Stock Code: AIM: AEN; BCBA: AEN

4

Andes Energia PLC | Annual Report and Accounts for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Chief Executive’s Review

“As part of our stated objective
of last year, we continued to
grow and consolidate our oil
and gas interests with the aim
of creating a unique oil and
gas portfolio in Latin America
whilst at the same time derisking the assets where
appropriate.“
The highlights for 2012 are the:
• successful completion of the
demerger of the Group’s utility assets
• award of 8 licence blocks in Colombia
in Open Round Colombia 2012 tender
• discovery of oil and gas in well YPF.
NQ.MMO.x-1 in the Vaca Muerta
formation in the Mata Mora block. Net
prospective resource of 62.75 mmboe
attributed to Andes’s participation
• discovery of oil and gas in well YPF.
NQ.Corr.x-1 in the Vaca Muerta
formation in the Corralera block. Net
prospective resource of 108.41
mmboe attributed to Andes’s
participation
• acquisition of AHI with conventional
and unconventional interests in
Argentina and Paraguay
Oil and Gas Interests
Andes Energia has made substantial
progress in expanding its oil and gas
portfolio.
As part of our stated objective, we
continued to grow and consolidate our oil
and gas interests with the aim of creating
a unique oil and gas portfolio in Latin
America whilst at the same time
de-risking the assets.

During 2012 the Group, through the
acquisition of AHI, acquired; a 100%
conventional and unconventional
interest in the Repatriación block in the
Chaco-Parana basin in Paraguay; a
100% conventional and unconventional
interest in the Los Buitres, Mina Baku
and La Brea blocks in the Neuquen
basin located in the Province of
Mendoza, Argentina; and a 100% interest
in the Agrio formation and a 40% carried
interest in the other formations in a 296
km2 area of the El Manzano block in the
Neuquen basin located in the Province of
Mendoza, Argentina.
The Group, in consortium (the
‘Consortium’) with Integra Oil and Gas
SAS (“Integra”), was also successful
in Colombia´s Agencia Nacional de
Hidrocarburos 2012 Bidding Process
and was awarded 8 blocks. The blocks
awarded were: Llanos 2, Llanos 3,
Llanos 12, Llanos 28, Llanos 49, Llanos
51, Llanos 79 and VMM 8. Andes has
a 70% interest in the Consortium. The
Consortium was the most successful
bidder for Class 1 blocks in the bidding
process and the second most successful
bidder overall, after Ecopetrol and its
affiliates. The terms of the bids by the
Consortium include the lowest royalty,
in the range 2-15%, amongst the other
successful bidders for Class 1 blocks.
Seven of the eight blocks awarded are
located in the Llanos basin, the most
prolific oil basin in Colombia. These
blocks are surrounded by fields that are
currently in production. The eighth block,
VMM8 is located in the “Valle Medio del
Magdalena”, which has high potential
for conventional and unconventional
resources. The total area of the blocks
awarded to Andes covers 470,000
acres. Preliminary estimates by the
Company indicate that there could be
total recoverable resources of over 100
million barrels of oil in the seven blocks.
The Consortium has already signed a
finance agreement with Integra, under
which Integra will fund the exploration
program on blocks LLA 3, LLA 12, LLA

51 and LLA 79.
Andes has significantly increased and
improved its portfolio through the year,
which now includes:
•
•
•
•

44 licences
7 million of net acres
19 million boe of 2P net reserves
600 million boe of net contingent and
prospective resources (management
estimate)
(Includes interests acquired after the year
end).
Vega Grande, La Paloma and Cerro Alquitrán
During the year, 3D seismic reinterpretation was completed in La
Paloma and Cerro Alquitrán and four
environmental permits to drill were
presented.
Corralera and Mata Mora Blocks
The Mata Mora block covers 58,317
acres (236 km²) and is located in
the eastern region of Argentina’s
Neuquén basin.
Well MMo.x-1 was drilled, cased and
cemented to a total depth of
3,151 metres and found the target Vaca
Muerta shale formation. The top of the
Vaca Muerta formation was reached
at a depth of 2,990 metres with a total
of 136 metres penetrated. A hydraulic
fracture stimulation of the Vaca Muerta
was performed targeting the following
horizons 3,054.3 – 3,055.0 mbgl,
3,065.3 – 3,066.0 mbgl, 3,075.3 –
3,076.0 mbgl, 3,085.0 – 3,085.7 mbgl
and 3,100.3 – 3,101.0 mbgl.
The well produced on average 10.3 m³/d
of oil and 1,434 m³/d of gas during the
production testing period through a
4 mm choke (10/64 inch) at flow
pressures of 13.8 kg/cm² and above.
Drilling operations were conducted
by YPF S.A. (“YPF”), Andes’s partner
and operator in the Mata Mora block.
YPF is Argentina’s largest oil and gas
development company.

Well Corr.x-1 was drilled and cased to a
total depth of 2,405 metres and found
the target Vaca Muerta shale formation,
which displays highly prospective
properties that exceed the prognosis
made prior to drilling. The top of the
Vaca Muerta formation was reached at
a depth of 2,058 metres with a total of
346 metres penetrated. The Vaca Muerta
shale formation is a thick rich source rock
that offers potential for unconventional
shale gas and shale oil.

Confluencia, San Bernardo, Pampa Salamanca
Norte, Buen Pasto, Sierra Cuadrada, Rio
Senguerr and Laguna El Loro Blocks
In 2011 we acquired our previous joint
venture partner’s interest in six blocks in
the province of Chubut and one block
in the province of Rio Negro in order to
stimulate activity on these blocks. In May
2011 we successfully signed a farm-in
agreement with YPF for the six blocks
in Chubut to explore the vast area of
approximately 25,500 km2.
As a result of this farm-in agreement,
Andes now holds a 28% carried
interest plus a 2% overriding royalty
on Confluencia, San Bernardo, Pampa
Salamanca Norte, Buen Pasto, Sierra
Cuadrada and Rio Senguerr.

La Brea, El Manzano, Mina Baku and Los
Buitres Blocks
In the La Brea block two successful
workovers in wells PMu7 and PMu2,
resulted in a significant increase in
production.
On 20 November 2012 well PMu-x7
was producing 6 bopd from the Agrio
formation prior to a pulling operation.
When returned to production, this
well reached 100 barrels of oil per day
(“bopd”) for the first four days then, after
a week, dropped to 13 bopd and after a
month, production stabilised at this level.

Our Financials

The Vaca Muerta formation is one of two
principal source rocks in the Neuquén
basin in Argentina. The formation is late
Jurassic, early Cretaceous in age,
covers an area of approximately
7.41 million acres (30,000 km²), varies
in depth between 5,500 to 14,000 feet
and in places is up to 1,400 feet thick.
In published reports, the U.S. Energy
Information Administration has estimated
a risked, recoverable resource of
240 trillion cubic feet (“TCF”) of shale
gas from the Vaca Muerta formation in
the Neuquén basin.

Our Governance

Corralera and Mata Mora Blocks (continued)
The Corralera block covers 83,027 acres
(336 km2) and is located in the North
West region of the Neuquén Basin in
West Central Argentina. The Corralera
block lies west of Chihuido de la Sierra
Negra (the largest producing oil field in
the country with cumulative production
of 555 mmbbls) and east of Filo Morado
(cumulative production of 65 mmboe).

Our Business
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Andes Energia
Assets
* Does not include Brazillian and MGM interests acquired after the year end.
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Chief Executive’s Review continued
La Brea, El Manzano, Mina Baku and Los
Buitres Blocks (continued)
On 3 December 2012 well PMu-x2, which
was producing 22 bopd, was workedover in the Agrio formation. After a month,
following the work over, oil production
stabilised at 107 bopd.
The results from these operations
indicate an Agrio formation with lowoil-permeability indicative of tight-oil
behaviour. When integrated with other
field information, it suggests that
the Agrio formation could become
an important oil producer in a tightoil formation. Further studies will be
conducted to properly address the Agrio
formation reservoir behaviour and the well
production decline curves.
Ñirihuau Block
As part of its exploratory commitments
in Ñirihuau Sur, Chubut Province a
first stage geochemical survey was
conducted. The object of the program,
which was to detect surface hydrocarbon
seepage and determine its concentration
and composition at a regional scale,
was successfully accomplished. The soil
gas samples collected were analysed
by Geofrontier in Dallas Texas and the
results were very promising. In particular
an area in the northeast of the block a
higher concentration of methane and
ethane was detected which indicates
the presence of hydrocarbons. This
information will be integrated with seismic
and geological data to determine the
prospectivity of the area to be followed
by a second campaign of high resolution
geochemical analyses, with the objective
of identifying a potential drilling location.

Llanos and Valle Medio del Magdalena
At the end of the year, Andes were
awarded and signed contracts for eight
exploration blocks in Colombia. Since
then, several discoveries have been made
in the surrounding areas increasing the
potential of the blocks. Four of the eight
blocks have been farmed-out and we
are in advance discussions with several
parties who are interested in the other
four blocks.

Other Interests
Andes is also looking for opportunities to
further grow in Colombia. After the year
end Andes entered into a JV agreement
with a company with production and
exploration assets in Brazil and also
acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of Kilwer S.A., Ketsal S.A. and
MGM International S.R.L.

Alejandro Jotayan
Chief Executive Officer
11 June 2013
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Alejandro Jotayan (Chief Executive Officer)
Alejandro Jotayan joined the board on
16 April 2013. Alejandro is an Industrial
Engineer with a Masters Degree in
Business Administration. He has 18 years
of experience in the oil and gas industry in
the Americas and Europe. He was Head
of Strategy and Business Development
of YPF until leaving in 2012. Previously,
Alejandro had held several managerial
positions in the exploration and
production departments of Repsol-YPF
working on the commercial development
of Vaca Muerta in the Neuquen basin.
He had also held managerial positions in
commercial analysis, strategic planning
and control and shareholder reporting
in the Techint Group of Companies
(Tenaris, Ternium, Tecpetrol). Alejandro
is well recognized in the industry as a
professional leader in the conventional
and unconventional hydrocarbons
business, having comprehensive
knowledge and experience in technical,
commercial, economic and regulatory
aspects.

Juan Carlos Esteban (VP E&P)
Juan Carlos Esteban joined the board
on 24 June 2009. Juan Carlos joined
the Company from YPF where he has
been employed since 1985. At YPF
he was responsible for production
activities in Argentina and Bolivia and for
the operations of YPF’s fields in North
Mendoza and Malargue in the Cuyana
and Neuquén basins. He has significant
knowledge and experience in the areas
where the group holds its licences.
Mr Alan Stark (VP Geoscience)
Alan Stark joined the board on
16 April 2013. Alan is a geophysicist
with 35 years E&P experience. He holds
a BSc in Physical Geology from the
University of Exeter and an MBA from the
University of Durham. He has worked as
a Geoscientist in Argentina for the last
24 years for both local and international
companies: Cadipsa, Vintage Petroleum
and Occidental. Prior to that he worked in
Europe and China.
Nigel Duxbury (Non-Executive Director)
Nigel Duxbury joined the board in July
2004. Nigel has extensive experience
both as a finance director and senior
executive in small and large quoted and
unquoted companies within Europe, Asia
and the USA. He has a background in
finance and accountancy, having qualified
as a chartered accountant with Touche
Ross, London.

David Jackson (Non-Executive Director)
David Jackson joined the board on
17 July 2012. David has more than 30
years experience in international banking
and finance having held senior positions
in Standard Chartered Bank (1990 2008), where he was a Managing Director
in London and Hong Kong, Scandinavian
Bank (1977 - 1990) in London, Bahrain,
Singapore and Hong Kong where he
was an Executive Director and a member
of the Bank’s General Management
Committee and Finance for Industry, now
3i, where he was a Senior Legal Advisor
(1973 - 1977). He retired from Standard
Chartered Bank in 2008 and is currently
the Non-Executive Chairman of Old Park
Lane Capital plc.
Carolina Landi (Non-Executive Director)
Carolina Landi joined the board on
17 July 2012. Carolina graduated from
the University of Buenos Aires in 2003
with a law degree, and obtained a LLM
in Business Law from the University
of Palermo in 2003. She previously
practised as a lawyer at the firm LaportaLopez & Partners. Carolina is currently
the legal representative for the Patagonia
Petroleo UTE.
Javier Alvarez (Non-Executive Director)
Javier Alvarez joined the board on
17 July 2012. Javier has a Masters in
Environmental Politics and Globalisation
from King’s College, University of
London. Javier is an executive director
and member of the board of directors
of the British Argentine Chambers of
Commerce.

Our Governance

Rudolph Berends (Vice Chairman)
Rudolph Berends joined the board
on 17 July 2012. Rudolph has
39 years experience in the oil and gas
industry. He started with Shell as an
explorationist, has more than 20 years
experience in Latin America and was
a CEO/President of various public and
private companies mainly focused on
Latin America. Rudolph has a Doctoral
degree in Geology/Geophysics and a
BSc in Economics from universities in the
Netherlands and the United States.

German Ranftl (Chief Financial Officer)
German Ranftl joined the board on
17 July 2012. German has a Masters
in Business Administration from the
University of Buenos Aires. He spent
nearly eight years at ING Barings as a
Vice President in Corporate Finance and
Investment Banking.

Our Financials

Nicolas Mallo Huergo (Chairman and CEO JV
Operations in Argentina)
Nicolas Mallo Huergo joined the board
on 2 October 2007. Nicolás has 20 years
experience in the energy markets and has
executed many M&A transactions. He
has a Law Degree from the Universidad
Católica Argentina, and a Master in Law
(LLM.) with honours at Northwestern
University School of Law, Chicago, U.S.A.

Our Business

The Board
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their report and
the audited financial statements of
Andes Energia plc (the “Company”
and collectively with its subsidiaries the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2012.

Funding and capital expenditure
This provides a measure of the funding
available for exploration and development
and the capital commitment required
to fulfil work programs and maintain
operations.

Principal activities and business review
The Group is a Latin American energy
group, with oil and gas interests
in Argentina, Colombia, Brazil and
Paraguay. The Company is required by
the Companies Act to set out in this
report a fair review of the business of the
Group during the financial year ended
31 December 2012 and of the position
of the Group at the end of the year. The
information that fulfils this requirement
can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement and Chief Executive’s Review,
which are incorporated into this report by
reference. These sections also include
details of expected future developments.

Oil reserves and resources
This is an indicator of potential future
production.

Results and dividends
The loss for the year, after taxation,
amounted to US$27,017,104 (2011:
profit US$16,393,166 as restated).
The directors do not recommend the
payment of a dividend (2011: US$nil).
Key performance indicators
The directors use a range of performance
indicators to monitor progress in
the delivery of the Group’s strategic
objectives, to assess actual performance
against targets and to aid management of
the business.
The Group’s key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) are set annually.
Sales
Sales provide a measure of Group activity
that is influenced by production levels and
oil prices.

Financial risk management
The Company’s exposure to financial
risk is set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.
Principal Risks And Uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group are set out below:
Exploration and drilling – the Group’s
exploration and drilling programs may
be unsuccessful. The Group seeks to
mitigate these risks by undertaking
extensive geological analysis prior to
significant expenditure being incurred.
Production – the Group’s production
may be adversely affected by technical
problems and production performance
may not be in line with expectations.
The Group seeks to mitigate these risks
by managing its responsibilities as an
operator and by working closely with our
partners in the field.
Environment – the Group’s activities
could be affected by environmental
issues. The Group ensures it understands
and effectively manages the actual and
potential environmental impact of its
current and future activities.
Oil price fluctuations – the Group’s
financial performance is related to
Argentine oil and gas prices. The
Group takes a conservative view when
undertaking capital appraisal.

Other general industry risks – the
Group may be affected by local
governmental regulation and taxation.
The Group monitors local and worldwide
changes in government regulation
and takes appropriate action where
necessary.
Supplier payment policy
It is the Group’s policy to agree and
clearly communicate the terms of
payment as part of the commercial
arrangement negotiated with suppliers
and then to pay according to those terms
based upon the timely receipt of an
accurate invoice. Trade creditor days for
the Group have been calculated at 190
days (2011: 135 days). This represents
the ratio expressed in days between the
amounts invoiced to the Group in the
year by its suppliers and the amounts due
at the year end to trade creditors falling
due for payment within one year.
Country Of Incorporation
The Company was incorporated in
England and Wales.
Countries of operation
The Group’s activities are based
in Argentina, Colombia, Brazil and
Paraguay.
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This information is given and should
be interpreted in accordance with
the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board of Directors
and signed on behalf of the Board

Nigel Duxbury

Our Business

• so far as that director was aware there
was no relevant audit information of
which the Company’s auditor was
unaware; and
• that director has taken all steps that
the director ought to have taken as
a director to make himself or herself
aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company’s
auditor was aware of that information.

Auditor
Nexia Smith & Williamson have expressed
their willingness to continue in office as
auditor and a resolution to re-appoint
them will be proposed at the Annual
General Meeting.

Secretary
11 June 2013

Our Governance

Nicolas Mallo Huergo
Rudolph Berends (appointed 17 July
2012)
Alejandro Jotayan (appointed 16 April
2013)
German Ranftl (appointed 17 July 2012)
Juan Carlos Esteban
Alan Stark (appointed 16 April 2013)
Nigel Duxbury
David Jackson (appointed 17 July 2012)
Javier Alvarez (appointed 17 July 2012)
Carolina Landi (appointed 17 July 2012)
Leandro Carbone (appointed 17 July
2012 and resigned 16 April 2013)
Neil Bleasdale (resigned 17 July 2012)
Luis Alvarez Poli (resigned 17 July 2012)
Marcelo Comba (resigned 17 July 2012)

Disclosure of information to the auditor
In the case of each person who was
a director at the time this report was
approved:

Our Financials

The Directors
The current directors and those who
served during the year were as follows:
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Corporate Governance
The UK Corporate Governance Code
The Company’s shares are traded on AIM
and as such the Company is not formally
required to comply with the provisions
of the UK Corporate Governance
Code, nor is it required to disclose its
specific policies in relation to corporate
governance. However, the Board is
committed to high standards of corporate
governance and as the Company grows
the Board will review their compliance
with the Code from time to time and will
adopt such of the provisions as they
consider to be appropriate to the size of
the Company.

The Workings Of The Board And Its
Committees
The Board of Directors
The Board meets frequently to consider
all aspects of the Group’s activities. The
Board consists of the Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and other executive directors and four
non-executive directors. All directors have
access to the advice and services of the
Company’s professional advisors.
Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nominations
Following recent Board changes the
Board is in the process of reforming the
committees and electing new members.

Relations with Shareholders
Communications with shareholders are
given a high priority by the Board, which
takes responsibility for ensuring that a
satisfactory dialogue takes place. The
Group has a website containing investor
information to improve communications
with individual investors and other
interested parties.
Internal control
The directors acknowledge their
responsibility for the Group’s systems
of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness.
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• select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;
• state whether applicable IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union have
been followed subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on the
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
will continue in business.
The directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that
are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company
and of the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for
the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Our Governance

Company law requires the directors to
prepare financial statements for each
financial period. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the
group and parent financial statements
in accordance with applicable law
and International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the
European Union and as regards the
parent company financial statements, as
applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006. Under
company law the directors must not
approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group and of the
profit/loss for the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements,
the directors are required to:

Our Financials

The directors are responsible for
preparing the Directors’ Report and the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Our Business

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of Andes Energia Plc
We have audited the financial statements
of Andes Energia plc for the year ended
31 December 2012, which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement,
the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated
and Company Statements of Financial
Position, the Consolidated and Company
Statements of Changes in Equity, the
Consolidated and Company Cash Flow
Statements and the related notes 1 to
36. The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union and, as regards
the parent company financial statements,
as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.
This report is made solely to the
Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’
Responsibilities Statement set out on
page 11, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view. Our responsibility
is to audit and express an opinion on
the financial statements in accordance

with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board’s
(APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of
financial statements is provided on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
• the group financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of the
group’s and of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of
the group’s loss for the year
then ended;
• the group financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union and as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006; and
• the financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act
2006.
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the
Directors’ Report for the financial year
for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial
statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by
exception
We have nothing to report in respect
of the following matters where the
Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not
been kept by the parent company, or
returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not
visited by us; or
• the parent company financial
statements are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration specified by law are not
made; or
• we have not received all the
information and explanations we
require for our audit.
Sancho Simmonds
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of
Nexia Smith & Williamson
Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
25 Moorgate
London
EC2R 6AY
11 June 2013
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

1,782,038

40,313

1,226,485

1,250,960

(254,668)

(5,708)

(5,621,145)

(2,446,408)

-

1,129,497
(1,316,911)

5

(2,867,290)

(31,346)

7

221,794

74,270

8

(1,768,936)

(1,577,803)

(4,414,432)

(1,534,879)

10

(253,069)

12,728,668

(4,667,501)

11,193,789

32

(22,349,603)

5,199,377

(27,017,104)

16,393,166

(4,667,501)

11,193,789

Non-controlling interests

* See note 2.30

188,941
(148,628)

(5,621,145)

9

Total (loss)/profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
– Continuing operations
– Discontinued operations

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

4,828,669
(3,046,631)

(22,932,355)

3,165,925

(27,599,856)

14,359,714

582,752

2,033,452

(27,017,104)

16,393,166

Cents

Cents

11

(2.34)

7.90

11

(11.48)

2.23

(13.82)

10.13

Our Business

3

Our Governance

Continuing Operations
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other operating income
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses before exceptional items
Exceptional items
Total administrative expenses
Operating loss
Finance income
Finance costs
Loss before taxation
Taxation
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit for the year

Re-presented
*31-Dec-11
US$

Our Financials

Note

31-Dec-12
US$
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Note

(Loss)/profit for the year
Recycled foreign exchange loss on demerger
Fair value adjustment
Translation differences
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year
* See note 2.30

31-Dec-12
US$

Re-presented
*31-Dec-11
US$

(27,017,104)

16,393,166

26,530,021

-

-

(169,648)

(15,478,600)

(9,723,127)

(15,965,683)

6,500,391

(13,462,065)

9,369,399

(2,503,618)

(2,869,008)

(15,965,683)

6,500,391
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Provisions
Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

*31-Dec-11
US$

13

166,313,678

126,748,049

14

1,156,319

135,480,145

15

-

3,214,795

16

-

8,869

18

5,164,306

1,457,431

155,331

20,605,306

172,789,634

287,514,595

20

348,839

7,114,382

15

-

6,446,080

16

584,780

4,269,931

18

6,347,407

35,603,082

19

178,557

9,280,640

7,459,583

62,714,115

22

8,584,262

62,260,620

23

6,774,009

30,027,771

24

145,827

10,453,628

21

48,590

-

15,552,688

102,742,019

22

9,026,006

12,109,722

23

165,399

29,294,510

19

33,723,598

29,472,345

42,915,003

70,876,577

121,781,526

176,610,114

34,814,262

32,770,723

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account
Merger reserve
Reverse acquisition reserve
Warrant reserve
Translation reserve
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

25

1,111,325

43,910,038

45,192,174

(40,933,087)

29

55,487,493

66,195,556

29

-

42,045,342

29

1,817,356

-

29

(16,641,084)

(30,778,875)

121,781,526

113,209,697

28

-

63,400,417

121,781,526

176,610,114

* See note 2.30

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 June 2013 and were signed on its
behalf by:
German Ranftl
Director
Company No. 5083946

Our Governance

Current assets
Inventories
Investments
Available for sale financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

31-Dec-12
US$

Our Financials

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Available for sale financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Deferred income tax assets
Total non-current assets

Note

Our Business

31 December 2012
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Company Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2012

Note

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Investments
Available for sale financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Current tax liability
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

31-Dec-11
US$

14

917

-

17

136,712,203

118,582,942

136,713,120

118,582,942

15

-

87,401

16

567,637

553,855

18

2,688,847

1,227,117

21

29,590

-

3,286,074

1,868,373

21

-

27,336

22

5,015,485

3,688,539

23

5,932,919

3,109,375

48,590

-

10,996,994

6,825,250

22

17,598

70,455

23

114,840

8,220,933

132,438

8,291,388

128,869,762

105,334,677

34,814,262

32,770,723

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account
Merger reserve
Warrant reserve
Translation reserve
Total equity

31-Dec-12
US$

25

1,111,325

43,910,038

56,956,695

(11,786,556)

29

55,487,493

66,195,556

29

1,817,356

-

29

(21,317,369)

(25,755,084)

128,869,762

105,334,677

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 June 2013 and were signed on its
behalf by:
German Ranftl
Director
Company No. 5083946
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

US$

US$

US$

Owners
of the
parent
US$

24,362,726
-

30,131,248
-

(55,463,201)
14,359,714
-

82,452,338
(169,648)
(4,820,667)

81,483,111
14,359,714
(169,648)
(4,820,667)

66,597,192
2,033,452
(4,902,460)

148,080,303
16,393,166
(169,648)
(9,723,127)

8,407,997

13,778,790

14,359,714
-

(4,990,315)
-

9,369,399
22,186,787

(2,869,008)
-

6,500,391
22,186,787

-

-

170,400

-

170,400

-

170,400

-

-

-

-

-

(327,767)

(327,767)

32,770,723
-

43,910,038
-

(40,933,087)
(27,599,856)

77,462,023
-

113,209,697
(27,599,856)

63,400,417
582,752

176,610,114
(27,017,104)

-

-

-

26,530,021
(12,392,230)

26,530,021
(12,392,230)

(3,086,370)

26,530,021
(15,478,600)

18,869,138

1,111,325

(27,589,856)
-

14,137,791
55,487,493

(13,462,065)
75,467,956

(2,503,618)
-

(15,965,683)
75,467,956

-

-

373,286
-

1,817,356

373,286
1,817,356

(57,544)
-

373,286
(57,544)
1,817,356

(16,825,599)
34,814,262

(43,910,038)
1,111,325

113,351,831
45,192,174

(108,240,898)
40,663,765

(55,624,704)
121,781,526

(60,839,255)
-

(116,463,959)
121,781,526

Merger
reserve

Warrant
reserve

Translation
reserve

Fair value
reserve

US$

US$

Reverse
acquisition
reserve
US$

US$

US$

Total
other
reserves
US$

66,195,556
-

-

42,045,342
-

(25,958,208)
(4,820,667)

169,648
(169,648)
-

82,452,338
(169,648)
(4,820,667)

66,195,556
55,487,493
(66,195,556)
55,487,493

1,817,356
1,817,356

42,045,342
(42,045,342)
-

(4,820,667)
(30,778,875)
26,530,021
(12,392,230)
14,137,791
(16,641,084)

(169,648)
-

(4,990,315)
77,462,023
26,530,021
(12,392,230)
14,137,791
55,487,493
1,817,356
(108,240,898)
40,663,765

US$

Other reserves

At 1 January 2011
Profit for the year as restated*
Fair value adjustments
Translation differences
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year
Issue of ordinary shares
Fair value of share based payments
Dividends
At 31 December 2011 as restated*
Loss for the year
Recycled foreign exchange on demerger
Translation differences
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Issue of ordinary shares
Fair value of share based payments
Dividends
Issue of warrants
Reduction of capital and demerger
At 31 December 2012
* See note 2.30

Other
reserves

Noncontrolling
interests
US$

Total
US$

Our Business

At 1 January 2011
Profit for the year as restated*
Fair value adjustments
Translation differences
Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year
Issue of ordinary shares
Fair value of share based
payments
Dividends
At 31 December 2011 as
restated*
Loss for the year
Recycled foreign exchange
on demerger
Translation differences
Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year
Issue of ordinary shares
Fair value of share based
payments
Dividends
Issue of warrants
Reduction of capital and
demerger
At 31 December 2012

*Profit
and loss

Our Governance

Capital and reserves

Share
premium

Our Financials

Share
capital
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

At 1 January 2011
Loss for the year
Translation differences
Total comprehensive loss for
the year
Issue of ordinary shares
Fair value of share based
payments
At 31 December 2011
Loss for the year
Translation differences
Total comprehensive loss for
the year
Issue of ordinary shares
Fair value of share based
payments
Issue of warrants
Reduction of capital and
demerger
At 31 December 2012

Share
capital
US$

Share
premium
US$

Profit and
loss
US$

Merger
reserve
US$

Warrant
reserve
US$

Translation
reserve
US$

Total

24,362,726

30,131,248

(11,620,009)

66,195,556

-

(25,066,951)

84,002,570

-

-

(336,947)

-

-

-

(336,947)

-

-

-

-

-

(688,133)

(688,133)

-

-

(336,947)

-

-

(688,133)

(1,025,080)

8,407,997

13,778,790

-

-

-

-

22,186,787

US$

-

-

170,400

-

-

-

170,400

32,770,723

43,910,038

(11,786,556)

66,195,556

-

(25,755,084)

105,334,677

-

-

(2,936,524)

-

-

-

(2,936,524)

-

-

-

-

-

4,437,715

4,437,715

-

-

(2,936,524)

-

-

4,437,715

1,501,191

18,869,138

1,111,325

-

55,487,493

-

-

75,467,956

-

-

373,286

-

-

-

373,286

-

-

-

-

1,817,356

-

1,817,356

(16,825,599)

(43,910,038)

71,306,489

(66,195,556)

-

-

(55,624,704)

34,814,262

1,111,325

56,956,695

55,487,493

1,817,356

(21,317,369)

128,869,762
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
31-Dec-11
US$

31

2,847,391

1,093,159

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of borrowings
Funds from borrowing
Proceeds from issue of shares
Dividends
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
from continuing operations
Cash generated from discontinued operations
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents transferred on demerger
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents
from discontinued operations
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

21

(737,345)

-

(925,465)

(526,765)

1,184,581

566,394

(195,357)

-

(397,642)

-

(18,502)

(2,428,734)

8,761

138,846

(602,740)

(2,289,888)

(2,233,947)

(1,001,646)

109,649

1,594,516

1,484,632

765,965

-

594,078

(639,666)

1,952,913

71,960

34,569

14,135

263,988

12,348,812

21,738,948

(3,131,091)

(14,449,052)

(13,598,773)

(5,244,754)

(4,291,462)

-

(443,704)

(665,963)

(9,116,218)

1,379,179

(9,102,083)

1,643,167

9,280,640

7,637,473

178,557

9,280,640

Significant non-cash transactions
Significant non-cash transactions in 2012 were the demerger of the utility operations, which was undertaken by way of a capital
reduction (see note 32) and the acquisition of AHI (see note 27).
In 2011, significant non-cash transactions were the acquisitions of Grecoil y Cia S.A. and AEN Energy Holdings SPC.

Our Governance

31-Dec-12
US$

Our Financials

Cash flow from continuing operations
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Taxation
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of exploration assets
Purchase of investments
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Net cash used in investing activities

Note

Our Business

For the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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Company Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Note

Loss for the year before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Revaluation of investments
Decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and other payables
Finance costs
Share based payments
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities
Interest paid
Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property plant and equipment
Purchase of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Loans from subsidiaries
Repayment of borrowings
Funds from borrowings
Proceeds from issue of shares
Net cash generated from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

21

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

(2,936,524)

(336,947)

210

-

10,954

293,166

39,166

496,907

103,357

(374,387)

1,085,672

1,304,971

373,286

170,400

(1,323,879)

1,554,110

(737,345)

-

(2,061,224)

1,554,110

(1,105)

-

-

(2,848,630)

(1,105)

(2,848,630)

1,246,978

1,218,169

(722,213)

(724,272)

109,649

-

1,484,632

765,965

2,119,046

1,259,862

56,717

(34,658)

(27,336)

6,240

209

1,082

29,590

(27,336)

Significant non-cash transactions
Significant non-cash transactions in 2012 were the demerger of the utility operations, which was undertaken by way of a capital
reduction (see note 32) and the acquisition of AHI (see note 27).
In 2011, the only significant non-cash transaction was the acquisition Grecoil y Cia S.A..

www.andesenergiaplc.com.ar | Stock Code: AIM: AEN; BCBA: AEN

21

Notes to the Financial Statements
1. General information
The Company is incorporated in England and Wales and is listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), and a description of its operations, are set out
in the Directors’ Report.

(a) The assets and liabilities of the utility group, which include the companies Andes Electricidad S.A., Sodem S.A., Empresa
Distribuidora de Electricidad de Mendoza S.A., Inversora Andina de Electricidad S.A., Mendinvert S.A, Hidroelectrica del
Sur S.A. and Hidroelectrica Ameghino S.A. have been demerged from the Group, which has resulted in certain comparative
information being re-presented;
(b) In the income statement and cash flow statement the results of the utility operations have been classified as discontinued
operations and the comparative information re-presented;
(c) The assets and liabilities of the utility operations as at 31 December 2011 are, however, still included in the respective line
categories in the statement of financial position.
(d) The equity structure that appears in the consolidated financial statements reflects the equity structure of the legal parent, the
Company and the retained profits and other equity balances reflected the retained profits of the Company and its subsidiaries
following the demerger.
2.2 Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements.

Our Governance

2.1 Introduction
Following the demerger that was completed on 11 July 2012, the following accounting treatment has been applied:

Our Business

2. Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial
instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting practice required management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual outcomes could differ from those estimates.
2.4 De-merger of utility operations
The effective distribution of the de-merged net assets is measured at fair value with any difference between the fair value and
carrying amount of the net assets derecognised on de-merger being recognised as part of the loss on discontinued operations
within the consolidated income statement.
2.5 Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operation that has been disposed of, has been abandoned or meets the criteria for classification as held for sale.
Discontinued operations are presented in the income statement as a separate line entitled “Profit for the year from discontinued
operations” and in a separate section in the statement of cash flows entitled “Cash flows from discontinued operations”.

Our Financials

2.3 Basis of accounting
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(including International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”)
interpretations) as adopted by the European Union.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Oil and gas reserves
Oil and gas reserves are the quantities of oil and gas estimated by management and verified from time to time by industry experts
that are calculated to be recoverable from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. Estimations of
reserves are inherently imprecise and subject to revision and in consequence financial and accounting measures that are based on
reserves are also subject to future revision. The prospective value of reserves is not carried in the statement of financial position but
revisions in reserves could impact the carrying value of intangible assets and tangible assets and the amortisation/depreciation of
such assets. On acquisitions, the fair value of such assets may also be based on estimates of oil and gas reserves.
Oil and gas prices and operating costs
Oil and gas prices and operating costs are subject to change and may affect future cash flows and the point at which a licence
becomes uneconomic. This could impact on the carrying value of intangible assets.
Impairment of intangibles
Assessment of the impairment of assets not in production is based on an estimate of prospective reserves and their expected value
and contribution.
Abandonment costs
Provision is made for costs that will be incurred when a well reaches the end of its economic life. These costs include, but are not
limited to, the costs of removing plant and equipment and the costs of returning the area to an environmentally sound condition. As
these costs will be incurred at some time in the future, the estimation of these costs is subjective.
Fair values
Assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition. The
estimated fair values of proven oil and gas assets are generally determined based on discounted cash flows, which involves
estimates of future production rates, recoverable reserves and oil and gas prices. Estimating the fair values of licences in the
exploration and development phase involves significant judgements about the potential value of any discovery and the chance of
exploration success. When assigning values to such assets, management uses appropriate discount rates and risk adjustments
having regard to industry practices typically applied.
Share based payments
In determining the fair value of equity settled share based payments and the related charge to the income statement, the Group
makes assumptions about future events and market conditions. In particular, judgement must be made as to the likely number
of shares that will vest and the fair value of each award granted. The fair value is determined using a valuation model which
is dependent on estimates, including the timing with which options will be exercised and the future volatility in the price of the
Company’s shares.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.7 New standards and interpretations
In the current year no new or revised Standards and Interpretations became effective that had a material impact on the Group.

* Not yet adopted by the EU

The directors do not anticipate the adoption of these standards and interpretations to have a significant impact on the Group. The
Group does not intend to adopt these standards early.
2.8 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Andes Energia plc and its subsidiaries.

Our Governance

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (2009) and amendment (effective 1 January 2015)*
IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements – (effective 1 January 2014)
IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements (effective 1 January 2013)
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 1 January 2013)
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement (effective 1 January 2013)
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial statements amendment (effective 1 January 2013)
IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2014)
IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 1 January 2014)
IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (effective 1 January 2013)

Our Business

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following standards and interpretations which have not been applied in
these financial statements were in issue but are not yet effective:

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control is achieved where the acquirer has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an investee entity so to obtain benefits from its activities.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line
with those used by the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s interest therein.
Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination together with
the non-controlling interests’ share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income since the date of the
combination. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
The non-controlling interest of shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at their proportion of the net fair value of the assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Our Financials

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, where appropriate.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.9 Business combinations and goodwill
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the business combination
is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for the control of the acquiree. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are recognised at their fair
values at the acquisition date. Deferred consideration is initially recognised as a liability at the acquisition date and then subsequently
measured at fair value with any changes recognised in the income statement.
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If,
after assessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the
cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Goodwill arising on acquisition is reviewed
for impairment at least annually. Any impairment is immediately recognised in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.
2.10 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts recoverable for services
provided and sales made in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sale related taxes.
Revenue arising from the provision of services is recognised when and to the extent that the Group obtains the right to
consideration in exchange of the performance of its contractual obligations.
Oil and gas production
Revenue from the sale of crude oil and gas is recognised when the risks and rewards of products passes out of the ownership of
the Group to external customers and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Utilities
Revenue from electricity distribution is recognised in the period the services are provided and from electricity generation on delivery
of energy to clients, when title and risks are transferred to the customer.
Other operating income
Other operating income primarily arises from management services provided to third parties and is recognised at the time the
service is provided.
2.11 Finance Income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable.
2.12 Finance Costs
Finance costs of debt are allocated to periods over the term of the related debt at the effective rate on the carrying amount.
2.13 Exceptional Items
Items of income and expense that are material by size and/or nature and are non-recurring are classified as exceptional items on the
face of the income statement. The separate reporting of these items helps give an indication of the Group’s underlying performance.
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In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Exchange differences arising are included in the profit and loss for the period. ains and losses arising on the
translation of the opening net assets of the Company at prevailing exchange rates, are transferred to the translation reserve. For the
purposes of preparing consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated at
exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising on consolidation are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve.
The financial statements are presented in US$ and the average rate used was US$1.58 to £1 and AR$4.54 to US$1 and the closing
rate used was US$1.62 to £1 and AR$4.9 to US$1 (2011: average rate US$1.60 to £1 and AR$4.12 to US$1 and closing rate
US$1.55 to £1 and AR$4.3 to US$1).
2.15 Government Grants
Government subsidies are recognised at their fair value when there is reasonable certainty that those subsidies will be collected and
that the Company will meet all the conditions established.

Our Governance

2.14 Foreign Currency
The individual financial statements of each Group company are maintained in the currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates (its functional currency), which in the case of the Argentinean companies is the Argentine Peso and in the case
of the Company is Pounds Sterling. For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position
of each Group entity are expressed in US Dollars, which is the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements,
comparable with other E&P companies.

Our Business

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.16 Employee Benefits
The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
2.17 Taxation
Current tax
Current tax is calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal period and the country to which they relate.
Deferred tax
The Group has recorded the income tax charge based on the balance sheet liability method, thus acknowledging the temporary
differences between accounting and taxable assets and liabilities.
For the purpose of determining the amount of deferred assets and liabilities, a tax rate has been applied to temporary differences,
which is expected to be in force at the time of their reversion or use, taking into account the legal provisions in force as of the date
of these financial statements.
Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Our Financials

Government subsidies received in relation to the purchase of fixed assets are deducted from the cost of such assets. These assets
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on the basis of their net acquisition cost.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.17 Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)
The Group is liable to pay a minimum notional income tax at the applicable tax rate (1%), calculated on the amount of computable
assets at the closing of the financial year. This tax is supplementary to income tax and the Group’s tax liability in each fiscal year will
be the higher of the minimum notional income tax and the income tax for the year. If the minimum notional income tax for a given
financial year exceeds the amount of income tax, such excess may be computed as a partial payment of income tax for any of the
ten following fiscal years.
2.18 Share-based payments
Warrants which are issued to employees, are measured at their fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The fair value is calculated using a binomial option pricing model.
2.19 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the parent’s share of the net identifiable assets of
the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable
amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Exploration assets
Pre-licence costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred.
All licence acquisition, exploration and evaluation costs are initially capitalised by well, field or exploration area, as appropriate.
Directly attributable expenditure is capitalised insofar as it relates to specific exploration and evaluation activities. Exploration and
evaluation costs are then written off unless commercial reserves have been established or the determination process has not been
completed and there are no indications of impairment.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is not amortised. When it is determined that such cost will be recouped through successful
development the expenditure will be transferred to Development and Production assets.
Development and production assets
Exploration and development costs relating to producing activities are depreciated in accordance with the Group’s depreciation
accounting policy. The Directors carry out regular reviews of development and production assets and assess the need for
impairment.
Concession assets
Concession assets acquired are stated at fair value at the date of acquisition.
Amortisation
Capitalised expenditure carried with each licence is amortised from the commencement of production on a unit of production
basis, over the relevant proved and probable developed resources. Changes in estimates of commercial reserves or future field
development costs are dealt with prospectively.
Concession assets acquired are stated at fair value at the date of acquisition. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over
the term of the concession.

27

www.andesenergiaplc.com.ar | Stock Code: AIM: AEN; BCBA: AEN

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset to its residual value over its
estimated useful life, as follows:
30 to 50 years
30 to 50 years
up to 25 years
30 to 40 years
2 to 9 years

Land is not depreciated.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount. Work in progress is not depreciated.

Our Governance

Network and transformer stations and other works
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Transformers
Other assets - Vehicles, furniture and fixtures

Our Business

2.20 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost less subsequent depreciation. Costs include expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.

Oil and gas
Exploration, development and production assets are reviewed regularly for indications of impairment and costs are written off where
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment.
Electricity distribution and generation
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped by business segment for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
2.22 Investments
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: investments including loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets including listed and unlisted securities and other investments held for trading. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition
and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market and are held with no intention of trading. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the balance sheet date, which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Our Financials

2.21 Impairment of assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.22 Investments (continued)
Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of
the balance sheet date. Available for sale financial assets are initially recognised at cost and then fair valued.
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Investments are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership.
Investments held at fair value through profit or loss are investments that are irrevocably designated at initial recognition as held at fair
value through profit or loss stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
2.23 Inventories
The Group’s stocks of crude oil resulting from drilling operations are carried at net realisable value.
Raw materials and consumables measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average cost formula method.
2.24 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default
or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision for impairment account and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement within distribution costs.
When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the provision for impairment. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against distribution costs in the income statement.
2.25 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include call deposits held with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of 3 months or less.
2.26 Trade Payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
2.27 Financial Liabilities
Bank loans and other borrowings are initially recognised at net proceeds of issue and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
2.28 Financial Leases
Financial leases have been treated as financial purchases and stated at present value at the initial transaction date plus accrued
interest at the year end.
2.29 Provisions
Provisions for environmental restoration and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

29

www.andesenergiaplc.com.ar | Stock Code: AIM: AEN; BCBA: AEN

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill
(note 13)

Balance at 31 December 2011 as previously reported
Impact of restatement
Balance 31 December 2011 restated

US$

US$

Profit and
loss account
reserve
US$

41,430,784

(18,110,634)

(34,554,338)

4,982,962

(11,361,711)

(6,378,749)

46,413,746

(29,472,345)

(40,933,087)

2011
US$

2011
US$

Income statement

Exceptional gain previously reported
Negative goodwill on Grecoil y Cia S.A. acquisition
Negative goodwill on AEN Energy Holdings SPC acquisition
Impairment of AEN Energy Holdings SPC licences

Deferred tax
(note 19)

3,452,038
54,519,208

Our Governance

2.30 Prior period adjustment
After due consideration a determination has been made that a deferred tax provision should have been recognised at the time of
the acquisitions of AEN Energy Holdings SPC and Gecoil y Cia. S.A. in 2011. The net assets acquired were recognised at fair values
and a deferred tax liability has now been recognised based on the difference between the tax base cost and fair values of the net
assets. The impact of these adjustments are summarised below:

Our Business

2.29 Provisions (continued)
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the increases specific to the liability.

(37,380,000)
20,591,246

Negative goodwill on AEN Energy Holdings SPC acquisition (note 27)
Impairment of AEN Energy Holdings SPC licences

(19,461,749)
1,129,497
38,509,497
(37,380,000)
1,129,497

Taxation credit previously reported
Impact of restatement
Taxation credit restated

536,502
13,083,000
13,619,502

Net impact of restatement

(6,378,749)

Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax on the acquisition of Grecoil y Cia S.A. (see note 27)
Deferred tax on the acquisition of AEN Energy Holdings SPC (see note 27)

8,435,000

US$
16,009,711
24,444,711

Deferred tax released on the impairment of intangible assets
Deferred tax at 31 December 2011
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share
As previously reported
Impact of restatement
Restated
The restatement had no impact on the Group’s financial position as at 1 January 2011.

(13,083,000)
11,361,711
Cents
14.64
(4.51)
10.13

Our Financials

Impact of restatement
Exceptional gain restated
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3. Revenue
Revenues from continuing operations relates to the sale of oil produced.

4. Segment reporting
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker, which in the case of the Group is considered to be the Board of the Company. In the opinion of the Board the
operations of Andes, following the demerger, now comprises one class of business, oil and gas exploration, development and
production and the sale of hydrocarbons and related activities. An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages
in business activities from which it may earn revenue and incur expenses and whose results are regularly reviewed by the Board.
The Board considers and reviews operating segments by reference to geographic location. Whilst the Group now holds interests in
licences in Argentina, Colombia and Paraguay, during the year under review the only reportable geographic segment was Argentina
and the results and the assets of the other segments (including unallocated items) are immaterial.

5. Operating loss
Continuing operations
This is stated after charging/(crediting):
Amortisation
Depreciation
Gain on foreign exchange

Discontinued operations
This is stated after charging:
Amortisation
Depreciation
Loss on foreign exchange
An analysis of auditor’s remuneration is as follows:
Audit services
Total audit fees
Other services relating to taxation
Other services relating to reporting accountant’s work
Total non-audit fees

31-Dec-12
US$

Re-presented
31-Dec-11
US$

228,012

-

108,374

11,247

(605,644)

(881,771)

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

114,266

250,721

3,298,609

7,275,899

2,074,285

66,123

107,110

94,697

107,110

94,697

30,020

-

20,540

-

50,560

-
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6. Staff costs and directors’ emoluments
a) Staff costs
The average number of persons including executive directors was:

3

2

13

10

11

9

27

21

31-Dec-12
No.

31-Dec-11
No.

160

160

386

386

157

161

703

707

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

2,847,310

1,117,783

274,425

196,723

Staff costs for the above persons were:
Continuing operations
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Share based payments

Discontinued operations
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Share based payments

201,797

110,644

3,323,532

1,425,150

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

12,531,885

26,201,255

2,513,429

5,973,516

53,516

53,516

15,098,830

32,228,287

b) Directors’ emoluments
The directors’ emoluments for services provided to the Company and other Group companies were as follows:

Aggregate emoluments

Emoluments of the highest paid director

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

1,937,420

1,351,981

1,937,420

1,351,981

468,607

414,629

Our Business

31-Dec-11
No.

Our Governance

Discontinued operations
Selling
Technical
Administration

31-Dec-12
No.

Our Financials

Continuing operations
Selling
Technical
Administration
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6. Staff costs and directors’ emoluments (continued)
b) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
The AIM rules require the disclosure of details of directors’ remuneration earned in respect of the financial year by each director of
the AIM company acting in such capacity during the financial year. The information below provides this information. In compliance
with the AIM rules it provides information relating solely to fees received for services provided to the Company during the year, as
opposed to the Group:

Nicolas Mallo Huergo
Rudolph Berends (appointed 17 July 2012)
Leandro Carbone (appointed 17 July 2012)
German Ranftl (appointed 17 July 2012)
Juan Carlso Esteban
Nigel Duxbury
David Jackson (appointed 17 July 2012)
Javier Alvarez (appointed 17 July 2012)
Carolina Landi (appointed 17 July 2012)
Neil Bleasdale (resigned 17 July 2012)
Luis Alvarez Poli (resigned 17 July 2012)
Marcelo Comba (resigned 17 July 2012)
Total

Fees
2012
US$

Bonuses
2012
US$

Emoluments
2012
US$

Emoluments
2011
US$

19,750

185,940

205,690

110,000

82,131

-

82,131

-

82,131

-

82,131

-

-

-

-

-

-

247,920

247,920

120,000

124,546

92,970

217,516

130,000

3,535

-

3,535

-

8,838

-

8,838

-

-

-

-

-

10,738

247,920

258,658

110,000
97,000

-

185,940

185,940

10,738

46,485

57,223

20,000

342,407

1,007,175

1,349,582

587,000

All directors’ service contracts are terminable on 3 months notice. Details of warrants granted to and held by directors during the
year are detailed in note 26.

7. Finance income

Interest receivable and similar income

31-Dec-12
US$

Re-presented
31-Dec-11
US$

221,794

74,270

221,794

74,270

31-Dec-12
US$

Re-presented
31-Dec-11
US$

1,768,936

1,577,803

1,768,936

1,577,803

8. Finance costs

Interest costs

9. Exceptional items
In 2011, as a result of the acquisitions of Grecoil y Cia S.A. and AEN Energy Holdings SPC (as detailed in note 27), the Group
recognised an exceptional gain arising from the difference between the consideration paid and the fair value of the net assets
acquired. Following restatement of deferred tax arising on these acquisitions, the restated exceptional gain before tax was
US$1,129,497 (US$14,212,497 after tax).
More detail can be found in notes 2.30 and 27.
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Loss on ordinary activities before tax
Tax credit on profit at standard rate of 35%
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
- Impairment
- Other items
Effect of items not taxable
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised
Current tax (charge)/credit

Discontinued operations
Current tax
Deferred taxation
Tax (charge)/credit
Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Tax charge on profit at standard rate of 35%
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Effect of items not taxable
Temporary timing differences
Recovery of minimum notional tax
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised
Current tax charge/(credit)

Re-presented
*31-Dec-11
US$

(255,094)

(357,002)

2,025

13,085,670

(253,069)

12,728,668

(4,414,432)

(1,534,879)

1,545,051

537,208

-

13,083,000

(450,275)

(120,947)

-

418,800

(1,347,845)

(1,189,393)

(253,069)

12,728,668

31-Dec-12
US$

Re-presented
31-Dec-11
US$

(799,326)

(2,162,596)

195,489

3,053,430

(603,837)

890,834

2,336,934

4,308,543

(817,927)

(1,507,990)

(51,240)

(551,890)

438,643

1,346,941

-

745,820

-

857,953

(173,313)

-

(603,837)

890,834

* See note 2.30

The tax rate used for the 2012 and 2011 reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate of 35% payable by corporate entities in
Argentina on taxable profits under tax law in that jurisdiction. There is no tax arising on any items within the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
The Group is liable to pay a minimum notional income tax at the applicable tax rate (1%), calculated on the amount of computable
assets at the closing of the financial year. This tax is supplementary to income tax and the Group’s tax liability in each fiscal year will
be the higher of the minimum notional income tax and the income tax for the year. If the minimum notional income tax for a given
financial year exceeds the amount of income tax, such excess may be carried forward as a partial payment of income tax for any of
the ten following fiscal years.

Our Business

Continuing operations
Current tax
Deferred taxation
Tax (charge)/credit

31-Dec-12
US$

Our Governance

10. Taxation

Our Financials
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11. (Loss)/earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. The basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as
there are no instruments that have a dilutive effect on earnings. Adjusted basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share are presented
after adjustment of exceptional items.
31-Dec-12
Cents

Continuing operations:
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
Adjusted basic and diluted loss per share

Re-presented
*31-Dec-11
Cents

(2.34)

7.90

(2.34)

(2.13)

Discontinued operations:
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
Adjusted basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

(11.48)

2.23

(11.48)

2.23

Continuing and discontinued operations:
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
Adjusted basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

(13.82)

10.13

(13.82)

0.10

Continuing operations:
(Loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders
Exceptional items
Tax in exceptional items
Adjusted loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders
Discontinued operations:
(Loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders
Exceptional items
Adjusted (loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders
Continued and discontinued operations:
(Loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders
Exceptional items
Tax in exceptional items
Adjusted (loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders

Weighted average number of shares
Effect of dilutive warrants
Diluted weighted average number of shares

Potential number of dilutive warrants

US$

US$

(4,667,501)

11,193,789

-

(1,129,497)

-

(13,083,000)

(4,667,501)

(3,018,708)

US$

US$

(22,932,355)

3,165,925

-

-

(22,932,355)

3,165,925

US$

US$

(27,599,856)

14,359,714

-

(1,129,497)

-

(13,083,000)

(27,599,856)

147,217

No.

No.

199,809,930

141,694,320

-

-

199,809,930

141,694,320

No.

No.

30,428,078

29,300,000

* See note 2.30

The warrants are deemed to be non-dilutive for the purposes of this calculation as the exercise price was more than the average
market price for the year.
Subsequent to the reporting date 307,362,663 ordinary shares of 10 pence each were issued (see note 36).
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12. Profit for the year

Cost
At 1 January 2011
Acquisitions (note 27)
Foreign exchange movements
At 31 December 2011
Additions
Acquisitions (note 27)
Foreign exchange movements
Goodwill de-recognised on demerger
Transferred on demerger (note 32)
At 31 December 2012
Amortisation
At 1 January 2011
Charge for the year
Impairment
Foreign exchange movements
At 31 December 2011
Charge for the year
Foreign exchange movements
Goodwill impairment de-recognised on
demerger
Transferred on demerger (note 32)
At 31 December 2012

Exploration

Development
and production
US$

Concession

Total

US$

US$

US$

US$

56,808,672
4,982,962

31,748,173

-

9,605,297

98,162,142

54,000,000

24,100,000

-

83,082,962

(2,851,111)

(21,266)

-

(696,942)

(3,569,319)

58,940,523

85,726,907

24,100,000

8,908,355

177,675,785

-

397,642

-

-

397,642

25,444,262

46,485,245

28,819,322

-

100,748,829

(3,566,185)

(8,859,169)

(5,185,989)

(433,593)

(18,044,936)

(18,305,496)

-

-

-

(18,305,496)

(34,669,267)

-

-

(8,474,762)

(43,144,029)

27,843,837

123,750,625

47,733,333

-

199,327,795

(12,526,777)

-

-

(841,814)

(13,368,591)

-

-

-

(250,721)

(250,721)

-

(37,380,000)

-

-

(37,380,000)

-

-

-

71,576

71,576

(12,526,777)

(37,380,000)

-

(1,020,959)

(50,927,736)

-

-

(228,012)

(114,266)

(342,278)

(565,726)

4,577,143

16,752

49,694

4,077,863

13,092,503

-

-

-

13,092,503

-

-

-

1,085,531

1,085,531

-

(32,802,857)

(211,260)

-

(33,014,117)

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2012

27,843,837

90,947,768

47,522,073

-

166,313,678

At 31 December 2011

46,413,746

48,346,907

24,100,000

7,887,396

126,748,049

* See note 2.30

Goodwill
Goodwill of US$27,843,837 arose on the acquisitions of Grecoil y Cia S.A. and Andes Hidrocarborus Investments S.A.. More detail
is provided in note 27.
Exploration, production and development assets
During the year the Company, through the acquisition of AHI, acquired four new licences in Argentina and one new licence in
Paraguay. Two of the licenses in Argentina are in production.
At the year end the Company holds interests in twenty six licences at different stages of development. It holds seventeen licences in
Argentina, eight licences in Colombia and one licence in Paraguay. Three of the twenty six licences are currently in production.
More detail on the assets can be found in the Chief Executive’s Review.

Our Governance

Group

*Goodwill

Our Financials

13. Intangible assets

Our Business

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own
income statement in these financial statements. The Company’s loss for the year amounted to US$2,936,524 (2011: US$336,947 loss).
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14. Property, plant and equipment
Work in
progress and
other assets

Total

Development
and production
US$

US$

US$

22,398,977

-

21,909,071

281,769,238

-

481,853

167,563

1,724,617

581,381

1,862,980

-

(13,035,622)

-

-

-

-

-

(367,192)

(367,192)

167,929

64,454

230,750

6,269

-

16,036,407

16,505,809

-

-

-

(36,995)

-

-

(36,995)

(15,500,818)

(1,167,972)

(1,047,439)

(1,701,927)

-

(1,699,349)

(21,117,505)

202,125,739

16,265,412

14,064,786

22,529,304

481,853

23,010,878

278,477,972

3,527,594

(239,032)

487,131

1,013,958

-

(4,789,651)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(353,106)

(353,106)

-

5,452

258,429

-

-

5,479,638

5,743,519

(9,837,978)

(847,456)

(718,791)

(1,096,561)

(59,002)

(1,135,318)

(13,695,106)

(195,815,355)

(14,520,641)

(13,653,180)

(22,446,701)

-

(22,015,731)

(268,451,608)

-

663,735

438,375

-

422,851

196,710

1,721,671

(114,310,041)

(2,935,893)

(8,370,489)

(9,248,665)

-

(11,253,841)

(146,118,929)

-

(42,979)

(139,938)

-

(281,383)

(33,446)

(497,746)

(4,475,316)

(394,363)

(697,429)

(622,127)

(6,129)

(1,091,782)

(7,287,146)

8,481,463

229,531

635,951

697,108

258

861,683

10,905,994

(110,303,894)

(3,143,704)

(8,571,905)

(9,173,684)

(287,254)

(11,517,386)

(142,997,827)

(2,094,025)

(195,521)

(405,081)

(307,981)

(4,142)

(400,233)

(3,406,983)

5,368,772

157,296

433,091

446,507

35,478

563,060

7,004,204

107,029,147

3,130,176

8,328,382

9,035,158

-

11,312,391

138,835,254

-

(51,753)

(215,513)

-

(255,918)

(42,168)

(565,352)

Net Book Value
At 31 December
2012

-

611,982

222,862

-

166,933

154,542

1,156,319

At 31 December
2011

91,821,845

13,121,708

5,492,881

13,355,620

194,599

11,493,492

135,480,145

Group

Cost
At 1 January 2011
Acquisitions
Transfers
Grants
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange
movements
At 31 December
2011
Transfers
Grants
Additions
Foreign exchange
movements
Transferred on
demerger (note 32)
At 31 December
2012
Depreciation
At 1 January 2011
Acquisitions
Charge for the year
Foreign exchange
movements
At 31 December
2011
Charge for the year
Foreign exchange
movements
Transferred on
demerger (note 32)
At 31 December
2012

Network and
transformer
stations and
other works
US$

Buildings
and land

Machinery
and
equipment

Transformers

US$

US$

US$

208,187,400

15,298,305

13,975,485

-

750,592

324,609

9,271,228

1,320,033

-
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14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Machinery
and
equipment
US$

Work in
progress and
others
US$

Total
US$

8,157

7,284

15,441

1,105

-

1,105

725

-

725

9,987

7,284

17,271

(8,157)

(7,284)

(15,441)

(210)

-

(210)

(703)

-

(703)

(9,070)

(7,284)

(16,354)

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2012

917

-

917

At 31 December 2011

-

-

-

Company

15. Investments

Non-current assets
Loans to other entities
Current assets
Loans to other entities

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

-

3,214,795

-

-

-

3,214,795

-

-

-

6,446,680

-

87,401

-

6,446,680

-

87,401

Loans to other entities are carried at amortised cost, which is management’s best estimate of their fair value.
Loans to other entities
In 2011, loans to other entities comprised HASA’s investment in the Fund for the Necessary Investments to allow for the Increase of
Electric Power Supply in the Argentine Wholesale Electric Power Market (“FONINVEMEM”), a fund created by the Argentine Energy
Secretariat. The loan was carried at amortised cost.

Our Governance

Depreciation
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011
Charge for the year
Foreign exchange movements
At 31 December 2012

Our Financials

At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011
Additions
Foreign exchange movements
At 31 December 2012

Our Business

Cost
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16. Available for sale financial assets

Non-current assets
Unlisted equity securities
Other investments
Current assets
Unlisted equity securities
Other investments
Listed government bonds

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

-

6,790

-

-

-

2,079

-

-

-

8,869

-

-

567,637

553,855

567,637

553,855

17,143

156,311

-

-

-

3,559,765

-

-

584,780

4,269,931

567,637

553,855

Unlisted equity securities
Unlisted equity securities represent investments in equity securities that are not quoted on a recognised stock exchange and are
stated at management’s best estimate of fair value.
Other investments
Other investments are carried at amortised cost, which is management’s best estimate of their fair value.
Listed government bonds
Listed government bonds were valued based on quoted prices at the year end.

17. Investments in subsidiaries
Non-current assets
As at 1 January
Additions
Transferred from subsidiary
Capital reduction of subsidiary
Demerger
Foreign exchange movements
As at 31 December

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

118,582,942

96,768,019

74,841,178

22,518,630

63,378,955

-

(63,378,955)

-

(62,540,377)

-

5,828,460

(703,707)

136,712,203

118,582,942

At 31 December 2012 the Company had the following subsidiary undertakings. They have the same year-end date as the Company
and have been included in the consolidated financial statements. The Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings all have share
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares. Interests are held either directly or indirectly.
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Ownership
Interest
%

Activity

United States

United States

100

Holding

Argentina

Argentina

100

Holding

Argentina

Argentina

100

Services

Argentina

Argentina

100

Oil and gas

Argentina

Argentina

100

Oil and gas

Argentina

Argentina

100

Oil and gas

Cayman

Cayman

100

Holding

Cayman

Cayman

100

Holding

Spain

Spain

100

Holding

Netherlands

Netherlands

100

Holding

Argentina

Argentina

100

Holding

Argentina

Argentina

100

Holding

Argentina

Argentina

100

Oil and gas

Argentina

Argentina and

100

Oil and gas

Paraguay

18. Trade and other receivables

Non-current
Trade receivables
Other taxes and social security
Other debtors
Current
Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment
Prepayments and accrued income
Advances under option agreements
Advance to suppliers
Loans to subsidiaries
Other taxes and social security
Grants
Other debtors

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

-

1,291,451

-

-

679,739

20,281

-

-

4,484,567

145,699

-

-

5,164,306

1,457,431

-

-

1,285,451

12,587,904

1,155,220

1,158,411

-

(4,139,147)

-

-

1,285,451

8,448,757

1,155,220

1,158,411

32,874

15,291,730

32,874

32,561

-

1,601,086

-

-

-

291,087

-

-

-

-

83,280

29,083

922,322

3,297,741

-

-

-

1,402,233

-

-

4,106,760

5,270,448

1,417,473

7,062

6,347,407

35,603,082

2,688,847

1,227,117

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally have a 40 to 60 day term. Due to their short maturities, the fair value of
trade receivables approximates to their impaired book value. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when
there is no objective evidence that the Group will be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms. The Group
considers factors such as default or delinquency in payment, significant financial difficulties of the debtor and the probability that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy in deciding whether the trade receivable is impaired. The directors consider that the carrying amount of
other receivables approximates to their fair value.

Our Governance

Area of
operation

Our Financials

Andes Energy LLC
Andes Energia Argentina S.A.
MSO Andes Energia Argentina S.A.
Andes Oil S.A.
Andes Oil and Gas S.A.
Grecoil y Cia. S.A.
AEN Energy Holdings SPC
AEN Energy Cayman Islands Limited
AEN Energy Latina S.L.
AEN Netherlands Cooperatief U.A.
AEN Energy Mendoza S.A.
AEN Energy Argentina S.A.
Patagonia Oil & Gas S.A.
Andes Hidrocarburos Investments S.A.

Country of
incorporation

Our Business

17. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
As at 1 January
Impairment losses recognised on receivables
Amounts written off as uncollectible
Acquisitions
Foreign exchange movements
Transferred on demerger
As at 31 December

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

4,139,147

5,000,455

-

-

1,283,307

652,319

-

-

(4,111)

(1,177,112)

-

-

-

4,530

-

-

(201,481)

(341,045)

-

-

(5,216,862)

-

-

-

-

4,139,147

-

-

As at 31 December 2012, no trade receivables were impaired (2011: US$4,139,147). As at 31 December 2012 trade receivables of
US$1,285,451 were past due but not impaired (2011: US$4,168,075). The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:
The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

Ageing of past due but not impaired
Up to 3 months past due
3 to 6 months past due
Over 6 months past due

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

1,285,451

2,339,870

1,155,220

-

-

249,686

-

-

-

1,578,519

-

-

1,285,451

4,168,075

1,155,220

-

19. Deferred tax
Group
Deferred tax asset

At 1 January 2011
Arising on acquisition
(Charged)/credited to the profit
and loss account
Foreign exchange movement
At 31 December 2011
(Charged)/credited to the profit
and loss account
Foreign exchange movement
Transferred on demerger (note 32)
At 31 December 2012

Provision for
bad debts
US$

Notional
income tax
US$

Provision
charges
US$

Employee
benefits
US$

Other
US$

Carry
forward
losses
US$

2,233,023

13,266,200

2,824,863

1,728,538

2,407,933

3,073,927

25,534,484

7,106

-

6,288

-

38,352

-

51,746
(3,317,979)

Total
US$

167,310

(588,519)

25,369

370,612

(426,632)

(2,866,119)

(169,325)

(937,935)

(206,292)

(87,871)

(158,461)

(103,061)

(1,662,945)

2,238,114

11,739,746

2,650,228

2,011,279

1,861,192

104,747

20,605,306

101,682

(781,061)

567,150

158,376

100,461

-

146,608

(115,411)

(580,262)

(129,438)

(97,894)

(86,807)

(6,153)

(1,015,965)

(2,224,385)

(10,272,582)

(3,082,653)

(2,071,761)

(1,843,189)

(86,048)

(19,580,618)

-

105,841

5,287

-

31,657

12,546

155,331
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Deferred tax liability

At 1 January 2011
Arising on acquisition
Charged/(credited) to the profit and loss
account
Foreign exchange movement
At 31 December 2011
Arising on acquisition
Charged/(credited) to the profit and loss
account
Foreign exchange movement
Transferred on demerger (note 32)
At 31 December 2012

Fair value of
property, plant
and equipment
US$

Write off from
intangibles

*Acquisitions

Borrowings

Total

US$

US$

US$

US$

14,375,633

4,311,989

-

7,424,948

26,112,570

-

-

24,444,711

-

24,444,711
(19,457,079)

(693,440)

520,353

(13,083,000)

(6,200,992)

(1,014,041)

(334,652)

-

(279,164)

(1,627,857)

12,668,152

4,497,690

11,361,711

944,792

29,472,345

-

-

25,750,060

-

25,750,060

(255,220)

237,152

-

(32,838)

(50,906)

(616,594)

(218,915)

(3,388,173)

(45,987)

(4,269,669)

(11,796,338)

(4,515,927)

-

(865,967)

(17,178,232)

-

-

33,723,598

-

33,723,598

Our Governance

* See note 2.30

No deferred tax asset has been recognised for the Company in respect of timing differences relating to tax losses and accelerated
capital allowances, as there is insufficient evidence that the potential asset will be recovered. The amount of the asset not
recognised is approximately US$2,645,617 (2011: US$2,040,846).

20. Inventories

31-Dec-12
US$

Crude oil
Raw materials and consumables

21. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

348,839

-

-

7,114,382

348,839

7,114,382

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

178,557

9,280,640

29,590

(27,336)

178,557

9,280,640

29,590

(27,336)

The directors consider that the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates to their fair value.

Our Business

19. Deferred tax (continued)
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22. Trade And Other Payables

Current
Trade payables
Social security and other taxes
Royalties payable
Accrued expenses
Government payables related to compensation funds
Other creditors
Loans from subsidiaries

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$
2,282,738

29,551,099

589,244

249,265

2,510,093

14,027,828

-

-

1,224,286

1,760,656

-

-

361,137

8,711,026

359,114

263,113

-

2,230,965

-

-

2,206,008

5,979,046

-

287,778

-

-

4,067,127

2,888,383

8,584,262

62,260,620

5,015,485

3,688,539

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

Non-current
Trade payables
Royalties payable
Social security and other taxes
Other creditors

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

-

469,936

-

363,882

-

-

-

1,461,569

6,120,135

17,598

70,455

-

7,200,555

5,519,651

-

-

9,026,006

12,109,722

17,598

70,455

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

23. Financial liabilities

Current
Bank borrowings
Other borrowings
Financial leasing
Accrued financial interest

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$
-

21,824,317

-

-

6,406,657

7,776,798

5,633,208

2,950,000

67,641

122,012

-

-

299,711

304,644

299,711

159,375

6,774,009

30,027,771

5,932,919

3,109,375

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

Non-current
Bank borrowings
Other borrowings
Financial leasing

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

-

17,676,231

-

-

114,840

11,342,483

114,840

8,220,933

50,559

275,796

-

-

165,399

29,294,510

114,840

8,220,933

43

www.andesenergiaplc.com.ar | Stock Code: AIM: AEN; BCBA: AEN

23. Financial liabilities (continued)

In 2011 bank borrowings and other borrowings included a US$5,000,000 secured loan facility carrying interest at a rate of 12.75%
per annum with the principal due for repayment by 30 March 2013; a US$6,170,933 unsecured loan that carried interest at a rate
of 9.75% per annum repayable by June 2013; a AR$10,000,000 unsecured loan that carried interest at a variable rate and was
repayable in monthly instalments with the final payment due in July 2012; a AR$13,393,830 unsecured loan that carried interest at
a variable rate repayable in monthly instalments with the final payment due in January 2013; a AR$3,272,533 unsecured loan that
carried interest at a rate of 18% repayable by 31 December 2012; and a AR$4,596,299 unsecured loan that carried interest at a
rate of 18% repayable by 31 December 2012.

Our Business

Other borrowings include a US$5,932,919 unsecured loan that carries interest at a rate of 9.75% per annum and is repayable by
June 2013; a US$114,840 unsecured loan that carries interest at a rate of 10.00% per annum, which is repayable 5 years from
the date of draw down; and a US$773,449 unsecured loan that carries interest at a rate of 18% per annum, which is repayable by
December 2013.

Interest payments

24. Provisions
At 31 December 2010
Additional provisions
Used during the year
Acquisitions
Foreign exchange movements
At 31 December 2011
Additional provisions
Used during the year
Foreign exchange movements
Transferred on demerger
At 31 December 2012

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

7,085,850

37,159,223

6,244,760

4,049,010

165,399

37,538,075

114,840

8,697,280

-

-

-

-

7,251,249

74,697,298

6,359,600

12,746,290

(311,841)

(15,375,017)

(311,841)

(1,415,982)

6,939,408

59,322,281

6,047,759

11,330,308

Restoration
US$

Legal Claims
US$

Total
US$
8,284,586

-

8,284,586

3,358

4,856,821

4,860,179

-

(2,151,817)

(2,151,817)

182,820

-

182,820

(7,793)

(714,347)

(722,140)

178,385

10,275,243

10,453,628

-

2,576,198

2,576,198

(11,565)

(208,454)

(220,019)

(20,993)

(500,124)

(521,117)

-

(12,142,863)

(12,142,863)

145,827

-

145,827

The Group makes full provision for the future cost of decommissioning oil production facilities and pipelines on a discounted present
value basis. The decommissioning provision represents the estimated present value of the costs of abandonment at the end of the
relevant license periods. These provisions are based on current economic factors and current environmental requirements, which
management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. These estimates are reviewed regularly to
take into account any material changes to the assumptions.

Our Financials

Maturity profile
Within 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
After 5 years

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

Our Governance

The maturity profile of financial liabilities based on gross undiscounted cash flows is summarized below:
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25. Called up share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 10 pence

2012
Number
of shares

2012

2011

US$

2011
Number
of shares

198,958,991

34,814,262

175,690,180

32,770,723

US$

On 1 June 2012 the Company issued 117,062,222 ordinary shares in satisfaction of the consideration to acquire a 100% interest in
AHI S.A..
On 7 June 2012 the Company issued 2,205,000 ordinary shares to directors and other parties who elected to invest bonuses in the
ordinary shares of the Company.
On 11 July 2012 the Company completed a capital reorganisation, a capitalization and reduction of capital and the demerger of its
utility operations. This involved:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

the consolidation of each ordinary share into 0.674 new consolidated shares;
(the sub-division of each new consolidated share into one A deferred share and one new 10 pence share;
the capitalisation of £33,097,778 of the merger reserve, creating a new class of B deferred shares; and
the cancellation of the A deferred shares, the B deferred shares and £23,868,755 of the share premium account.

Following the cancellation, the utility operations were transferred to a newly incorporated company, Andina plc (“Andina”), in
consideration for which Andina:
a. issued to shareholders on the Andes Register at the demerger record date one Andina share for every 2.067484663 new Andes
shares held;
b. assumed the obligations of the Company for certain loans; and
c. undertook to issue such number of Andina warrants to Andes warrantholders equal to the relevant proportion on substantially the
same terms as the Andes warrants.
The net effect of the capital reduction was the cancellation of 96,156,114 ordinary shares. See note 32.
On 27 July 2012 the Company issued 157,703 ordinary shares to a director who elected to invest fees due to him in the ordinary
shares of the Company.
The issued share capital is reconciled as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Vendor consideration
Placing to directors and other parties
Debt conversion
Capital reduction
Balance at end of year

2012
No.

2011
No.

175,690,180

123,140,195

117,062,222

28,914,963

2,362,703

2,069,337

-

21,565,685

(96,156,114)

-

198,958,991

175,690,180
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26. Warrants

Lapsed
during year

At end
of year

2012
No.

*Adjustment
on capital
restructure
2012
No.

Exercise
price

Exercise
date from

Exercise
date to

2012
No.

2012
No.

2012
No.

1,750,000
24,000,000
3,550,000

-

(570,500)
(7,824,002)
(1,157,300)

(16,175,998)
-

1,179,500
2,392,700

54 pence
54 pence
54 pence

July 2005
October 2008
October 2008

July 2014
October 2012
October 2014

-

1,500,000

(489,000)

1,500,000

(489,000)

-

1,011,000

45 pence

June 2012

September 2017

-

1,011,000

54 pence

June 2012

4,000,000

September 2017

(1,304,000)

-

2,696,000

70 pence

June 2012

September 2017

6,620,000

(2,158,120)

-

4,461,880

54 pence

June 2012

June 2019

1,500,000

-

-

1,500,000

54 pence

July 2012

July 2017

-

16,175,998

-

-

16,175,998

54 pence

January 2013

January 2018

29,300,000

31,295,998

(13,991,922)

(16,175,998)

30,428,078

Our Governance

Granted
during year

* See note 25

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the warrants is 4.75 years. All warrants, apart from the 8,354,580 granted
to management and advisers, are outside the scope of IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payments”. For those warrants outside the scope
of IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payments” the table below summarises the number of warrants and the associated weighted average
exercise price (WAEP) outstanding during the year.

Outstanding at 1 January
Granted during the year
Reduction of capital adjustment*
Lapsed during the year
Exercised during the period
Outstanding at 31 December
Exercisable at 31 December

2012
No.

2012
WAEP

2011
No.

2011
WAEP

25,750,000

54.0 pence

25,750,000

54.0 pence

23,175,998

56.2 pence

-

54.0 pence

(10,676,502)

55.5 pence

-

-

(16,175,998)

54.0 pence

-

-

-

54.0 pence

-

54.0 pence

22,073,498

25,750,000

5,897,500

25,750,000

For those warrants within the scope of IFRS 2 “Share Based Payments” the table below summarises the number of warrants and
the associated weighted average exercise price (WAEP) outstanding during the year.

Outstanding at 1 January
Granted during the year
Reduction of capital adjustment*
Lapsed during the year
Exercised during the year
Outstanding at 31 December
Exercisable at 31 December

2012
No.

2012
WAEP

2011
No.

2011
WAEP

3,550,000

54.0 pence

3,550,000

54.0 pence

8,120,000

54.0 pence

-

-

(3,315,420)

54.0 pence

-

-

54.0 pence

-

-

-

54.0 pence

-

-

8,354,580

3,550,000

2,392,700

3,550,000

* See note 25

The fair values of warrants, which fall under the scope of IFRS 2, were calculated using the Black-Scholes model. The estimated fair
values of options, which fall under IFRS 2 and the inputs used in the model to calculate those fair values are as follows:

Our Financials

At start
of year

Our Business

The Group has constituted warrant instruments to create and issue warrants to subscribe for ordinary shares. Details of warrants
granted are as follows:
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26. Warrants (continued)
Number

Estimated
fair value

Share
price

Exercise
price

Expected
volatility
percentage

Expected
life
years

Risk free
rate
percentage

Expected
dividends
percentage

2,392,700

21 pence

54.00 pence

54 pence

35%

7.00

5.10%

0%

4,461,880

23 pence

45.25 pence

54 pence

53%

7.00

1.80%

0%

1,500,000

14 pence

38.25 pence

54 pence

53%

5.25

1.80%

0%

Date of grant

September 2007*
June 2012*
July 2012

* Adjusted following demerger - see note 25

The Group recognised an expense of US$373,286 (US$262,412 continuing operations and US$110,874 discontinued operations)
related to equity settled share-based payment transactions during the year (2011: US$170,400 – US$114,850 continuing
operations and US$55,550 discontinued operations). Warrants granted to and held by directors during the year are detailed below:

Nicolas Mallo Huergo
Nicolas Mallo Huergo
German Ranftl (appointed 17 July 2012)
German Ranftl (appointed 17 July 2012)
Juan Carlso Esteban
Nigel Duxbury
Nigel Duxbury
David Jackson (appointed 17 July 2012)
Carolina Landi (appointed 17 July 2012)
Carolina Landi (appointed 17 July 2012)
Neil Bleasdale (resigned 17 July 2012)
Neil Bleasdale (resigned 17 July 2012)
Luis Alvarez Poli (resigned 17 July 2012)
Luis Alvarez Poli (resigned 17 July 2012)
Marcelo Comba (resigned 17 July 2012)
Marcelo Comba (resigned 17 July 2012)
Senior Management
Senior Management

01-Jan-12

Granted in
the year

31-Dec-12

No.

Reduction of
capital
adjustment
No.

Exercise
price

Exercise
dates

No.
350,000

-

(114,100)

-

900,000

(293,400)

235,900

54 pence

2014

606,600

54 pence

350,000

-

2019

(114,100)

235,900

54 pence

-

2014

900,000

(293,400)

606,600

54 pence

2019

-

1,000,000

(326,000)

674,000

54 pence

2019

600,000

-

(195,600)

404,400

54 pence

2014

-

400,000

(130,400)

269,600

54 pence

2019

-

1,500,000

1,500,000

54 pence

2017

120,000

-

(39,120)

80,880

54 pence

2014

-

200,000

(65,200)

134,800

54 pence

2019

160,000

-

(52,160)

107,840

54 pence

2014

-

1,300,000

(423,800)

876,200

54 pence

2019

400,000

-

(130,400)

269,600

54 pence

2014

-

900,000

(293,400)

606,600

54 pence

2019

250,000

-

(81,500)

168,500

54 pence

2014

-

200,000

(65,200)

134,800

54 pence

2019

1,570,000

-

(511,820)

1,058,180

54 pence

2014

-

820,000

(267,320)

552,680

54 pence

2019

No.

27. Acquistions
At the date of acquisition net assets acquired are measured at fair value. Goodwill arises where there is a difference between the fair
value of the net assets acquired and the purchase consideration.
2012 acquisition – Andes Hidrocarburos Investments S.A. (“AHI”)
On 1 June 2012 the Group acquired 100% of AHI for a consideration of US$74,841,178. This transaction has been accounted for by
the acquisition method of accounting. AHI holds an interest in 4 exploration blocks in Argentina and 1 exploration block Paraguay. The
primary reason for the acquisition was to gain further exploration and development acreage in Argentina and Paraguay.
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27. Acquistions (continued)
2012 acquisition – Andes Hidrocarborus Investments S.A. (“AHI”) (continued)
There were no material acquisition costs.

Book
Value
US$

Fair value
adjustments
US$

Fair value

1,732,967

73,571,600

75,304,567

8,800

-

8,800

21,769

-

21,769

Net assets acquired

Intangible assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Deferred tax

US$

(188,160)

-

(188,160)

-

(25,750,060)

(25,750,060)

1,575,376

47,821,540

49,396,916

Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 13)
Total purchase consideration

Our Business

A loss of US$95,838 in relation to the acquired activities has been recognised in the income statement for the year. Had AHI been
acquired on 1 January 2012 a loss of US$192,730 would have been recognized in the income statement.

25,444,262

Net cash inflow on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Less: Shares and warrants for non cash consideration
Shares
Warrants

74,841,178
73,046,827
1,794,351

Our Governance

74,841,178

(74,841,178)
-

Add: Cash and cash equivalents acquired

8,800
8,800

The fair values of warrants issued were calculated using the Black-Scholes model; the inputs used in the model to calculate those
fair values are as follows:
Date of grant

June 2012
June 2012
June 2012

Number

Estimated
fair value

Share
price

Exercise
price

Expected
volatility
percentage

Expected
life
years

Risk free
rate
percentage

Expected
dividends
percentage

1,500,000

20 pence

42.5 pence

45 pence

53%

5.25

1.80%

0%

1,500,000

18 pence

42.5 pence

54 pence

53%

5.25

1.80%

0%

4,000,000

15 pence

42.5 pence

70 pence

53%

5.25

1.80%

0%

Our Financials

The goodwill arising on acquisition reflects the future potential of the Argentinian oil and gas market.
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27. Acquistions (continued)
2011 acquisitions – AEN Energy Holdings SPC and Grecoil y Cia S.A.
On 1 April 2011 the Group acquired 100% of AEN Energy Holdings SPC and on 21 November 2011 the Group acquired 100% of
Grecoil y Cia S.A..
At the time of these acquisitions no deferred tax was recognised on the difference between the book value of the assets acquired
and their fair value and after further consideration it has been determined that deferred tax should be recognised at the time of the
acquisitions. The impact of these restatements is as follows:
AEN Energy Holdings SPC

Net assets acquired
Intangible assets
Property plant and equipment
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Social security and other taxes
Deferred tax
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Net cash inflow on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Add: Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Book
Value

Fair value
as restated

US$

*Fair value
adjustments
as restated
US$

US$

Fair value
as originally
stated
US$

8,257,968

45,742,032

54,000,000

54,000,000

5,201

-

5,201

5,201

127,278

-

127,278

127,278

546,254

-

546,254

546,254

(119,348)

-

(119,348)

(119,348)
(91,923)

(91,923)

-

(91,923)

51,746

(16,009,711)

(15,957,965)

51,746

8,777,176

29,732,321

38,509,497

54,519,208

(38,509,497)

(54,519,208)

-

-

-

-

127,278

127,278

127,278

127,278

As shown above, at the time of the acquisition an exceptional gain of US$38,509,497 (as originally stated US$54,519,208) arose
on the acquisition, being the excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised over the cost of the business combination.
Subsequent to the acquisition, the Group entered into a farm-in agreement with YPF and an impairment loss of US$37,380,000 has
been recognised in the income statement to reflect the reduction in the interest in the licence blocks concerned.
The net impact of these two transactions resulted in an exceptional gain of US$1,129,497 (as originally stated -US$17,139,208)
being recognised in administrative expenses in the income statement for the year and an exceptional tax credit of US$13,083,000
(as originally stated US$nil).
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Net assets acquired
Intangible assets
Property plant and equipment
Inventories
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Social security and other taxes
Deferred tax

Book
Value

Fair value
as restated

US$

*Fair value
adjustments
as restated
US$

US$

Fair value
as originally
stated
US$

-

24,100,000

24,100,000

24,100,000

1,221,670

-

1,221,670

1,221,670

144,758

-

144,758

144,758

11,084

-

11,084

11,084

2,413,272

-

2,413,272

2,413,272

(1,020,113)

-

(1,020,113)

(1,020,113)

(1,673,596)

-

(1,673,596)

(1,673,596)

(182,820)

-

(182,820)

(182,820)

(154,068)

-

(154,068)

(154,068)

-

(8,435,000)

(8,435,000)

-

760,187

15,665,000

16,425,187

24,860,187

Positive goodwill arising on acquisition (see note 13)
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Net cash outflow on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Less: Shares and warrants for non cash consideration

21,408,149

21,408,149

(13,499,067)

(13,499,067)

Less: Assumption of debt obligation
Less: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash element of purchase consideration

4,982,962

-

-

(3,452,038)

21,408,149

21,408,149

7,909,082

7,909,082

(6,170,933)

(6,170,933)

1,738,149

1,738,149

(11,084)

(11,084)

1,727,065

1,727,065

* See note 2.30

At the time of the acquisition, after restatement, goodwill of US$4,982,962 arose on the acquisition, which has been capitalised
within the consolidated statement of financial position. The goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the business combination
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised and reflects the
future potential of the Argentinian oil and gas market.
(As originally stated, an exceptional gain of US$3,452,038 was recognised as an exceptional item in the income statement, being
the excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised over the
cost of the business combination).
In the event that reserves are certified from the commercial discovery of new unconventional resources a deferred consideration
up to a maximum of US$16,390,000 may become payable. No provision was made for this potential liability on acquisition as the
directors did not consider the fair value attributable to unconventional reserves to be significant at the time of the approval of the
2011 financial statements. No liability is recognised as at 31 December 2012 as the directors consider that the fair value of the
contingent consideration continues to be immaterial.
It should also be noted that the cash element of the purchase consideration was paid in 2007 as advance payment to secure the
option to acquire Grecoil y Cia S.A..

Our Governance

Grecoil y Cia S.A.

Our Financials

2011 acquisitions – AEN Energy Holdings SPC and Grecoil y Cia S.A. (continued)

Our Business

27. Acquistions (continued)

50

Andes Energia PLC | Annual Report and Accounts for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

28. Non-controlling interests
At 1 January restated
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Dividends
Translation differences
Transferred on demerger
At 31 December

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

63,400,417

66,597,192

582,752

2,033,452

(57,544)

(327,767)

(3,086,370)

(4,902,460)

(60,839,255)

-

-

63,400,417

29. Reserves
Merger reserve
The merger reserve is a non-distributable capital reserve arising from the issue and allotment of shares at a price higher than the
nominal value of the shares and issued to satisfy purchase considerations. US$66,195,556 of the merger reserve was cancelled on
11 July 2012 as part of the capital reduction approved by the Court.
Reverse acquisition reserve
The reverse acquisition reserve was a non-distributable capital reserve arising on consolidation as a result of the business
combination with Sodem S.A. and was eliminated on completion of the demerger on 11 July 2012.
Translation reserve
The translation reserve results from exchange differences arising from the translation of the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations into the presentation currency at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date and income and expense items at
the average exchange rates for the period.
Warrant reserve
The warrant reserve results from the proceeds from the issue of warrants.

30. Capital commitments
Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

-

-

Over the next 3 years, the group has license commitments to fulfil seismic acquisition programs and the drilling of exploration wells.
The Group has farm-in agreements with third parties to fund these commitments on the majority of its licences and will look to
secure further farm-in agreements or fund directly the commitments under the other licences from its operational cash flow.

Continuing operations
Profit for the year before taxation
Exceptional items
Profit for the year before taxation and exceptional items
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Revaluation of investments
Increase in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in creditors and other payables
Finance costs
Finance income
Movement provisions
Share based payments
Net cash generated from operating activities

31-Dec-12
US$

Re-presented
*31-Dec-11
US$

(4,414,432)

(1,534,879)

-

(1,129,497)

(4,414,432)

(2,664,376)

336,386

11,247

10,954

293,166

(232,805)

(7,262)

(2,679,871)

53,341

7,860,217

1,788,660

1,768,936

1,577,803

(221,794)

(74,270)

157,389

-

262,411

114,850

2,847,391

1,093,159

* See note 2.30

32. Discontinued operations

Our Governance

31. Cash generated from operations

Our Business
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The demerger was effected through a capital reorganisation, capitalisation, and reduction of capital. This involved a consolidation
and sub-division of Andes’s share capital, a capitalisation of Andes’s reserves and a reduction of Andes’s capital and share
premium.
The net assets transferred totalled US$108,803,645 compared to the IFRIC 17 transfer value of US$116,463,959 resulting in a gain
of US$7,660,314.
As a result of the demerger the results of the utility operations have classified as discontinued operations in these financial
statements.
The difference between the fair values of the operations transferred and the carrying amount of the Company’s investment in its
former subsidiaries is recognised in the Company’s income statement as a separate line item.

Our Financials

On 9 June 2012 the Company announced its intention to separate into two businesses. The separation was effected by a way of a
demerger of the utility operations into a new company called Andina plc with the Company remaining the ultimate holding company
for the E&P businesses. The demerger was completed on 11 July 2012.

52

Andes Energia PLC | Annual Report and Accounts for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

32. Discontinued operations (continued)
The assets and liabilities transferred were:
Assets

US$

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Cash and cash equivalents
Available for sale financial investments
Investments
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Deferred tax
Total assets
Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Provisions
Deferred tax
Total liabilities
Net assets

42,058,498
129,616,354
4,291,462
3,642,701
9,565,140
40,239,583
7,976,916
19,580,618
256,971,272
77,264,387
41,582,145
12,142,863
17,178,232
148,167,627
108,803,645

The following amounts are included for the utility operations in the income statement within profit/loss for the year from
discontinued operations:
31-Dec-12
US$

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other operating income
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Operating profit
Finance cost
Finance income
Profit before tax
Income tax
Profit for the year

31-Dec-11
US$

94,185,782

175,527,294

(69,797,050)

(127,368,485)

24,388,732

48,158,809

2,271,372

4,060,726

(8,238,951)

(17,028,508)

(11,103,626)

(21,156,291)

7,317,527

14,034,736

(5,129,341)

(10,725,502)

148,748

999,309

2,336,934

4,308,543

(603,837)

890,834

1,733,097

5,199,377
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32. Discontinued operations (continued)
The profit for the year from discontinued operations as presented in the income statement is comprised as follows:

Profit for the year as above

1,733,097

HASA goodwill de-recognised

(5,212,993)

Fair value of net assets transferred
Net assets
Gain arising on demerger

116,463,959
(108,803,645)
7,660,314

Our Business

31-Dec-12
US$

4,180,418

Recycled exchange loss
Loss for the year from discontinued operations

(26,530,021)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(22,932,335)
582,752
(22,349,603)

33. Financial risk management
The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in price risk, credit risk, foreign
exchange risk, liquidity risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk. At 31 December 2012 the Group had not entered into any
derivative transactions nor does it trade financial instruments as a matter of policy.

Our Governance

(22,349,603)

Credit risk
The Group’s business is exposed to credit risks due to the possibility that customers and other debtors may fail to meet their
financial obligations. The Group is also subject to counterparty credit risk attributable to its investments, deposits of cash and cash
equivalents. The risk is limited because the counterparties are banks (and for 2011, Governments and corporations) with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
In respect of the discontinued operations, in accordance with the local legislation, the Group was not able to subject its customer
portfolio to a regular credit risk assessment. The Group had the right to disconnect services if customers failed to meet their financial
obligations.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date was:
The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

Investments
Available for sale financial investments
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

-

3,214,795

-

87,401

584,780

4,278,800

567,637

553,855

11,478,838

21,768,783

2,688,847

1,227,117

178,557

9,280,640

29,590

(27,336)

12,242,175

38,543,018

3,286,074

1,841,037

Our Financials

Price risk
The Group is exposed to the volatility in the price of oil, primarily in the Argentine local market.
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33. Financial risk management (continued)
Foreign exchange risk
As the Group’s operations are based in Argentina, operating cash flows are primarily denominated in AR$ and as a result the group
has limited exposure to foreign currency risk at the operating level. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk at the Group
level. The Company’s functional currency is £ and the Group’s results are reported in US$ and any movements in the £/AR$/US$
exchange rates would impact the carrying value of the Group’s net assets.
Capital and liquidity risk
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it remains sufficiently funded to support its business strategy and maximise
shareholder value. The Group’s funding needs are met through a combination of debt and equity. The Group monitors its net
debt position on an ongoing basis. The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital includes share capital, share premium and other reserves and accumulated losses. Furthermore, current foreign
currency legislation in Argentina, restricts the flow of capital out of Argentina. There is a risk that the Group may have delays in
meeting financial obligations it may have outside Argentina.
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from corporate debt and in 2011 a syndicated bank loan. The corporate debt accrues
interest at fixed rates, which exposes the Group to fair value interest rate risk. (2011: The syndicated loan accrued interest at fixed
and variable rates.)
The Group does not use derivative instruments to hedge this risk.

34. Financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments
31-Dec-12
US$

Financial assets
Cash and bank balances
Loans and receivables
Available for sale financial assets
Financial liabilities
Amortised costs

31-Dec-11
US$

31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

178,557

9,280,640

29,590

(27,336)

11,511,712

40,275,308

2,688,847

1,227,117

584,780

4,278,800

567,637

553,855

12,275,049

53,834,748

3,286,074

1,753,636

22,363,087

118,391,526

6,637,003

11,867,351

22,363,087

118,391,526

6,637,003

11,867,351

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial
statements approximate their fair values.

35. Related party transactions
Company
Amounts owed by and to its subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 18 and 22 respectively.
Group
Prior to the demerger, Andes Electricidad SA and its subsidiaries were all subsidiaries of Andes Energia plc. The transactions and
balances with Andes Electricadad SA and its subsidiaries were as follows:
31-Dec-12
US$

31-Dec-11
US$

Management charge

2,283,288

2,150,471

Due to demerged utility companies

(6,202,714)

(4,020,809)
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35. Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation.

The Group
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

Salaries and other short term benefits
Share based payments

The Company
31-Dec-12
31-Dec-11
US$
US$

2,308,363

1,351,981

1,377,425

215,710

72,480

64,071

72,480

2,524,073

1,424,461

1,441,496

677,420

604,940

Our Business

Key Management Compensation
Compensation for key management of the Company who have authority for planning, directing and controlling the Group;

On 11 March 2013 the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Kilwer S.A. (“Kilwer”). The consideration for the
acquisition was satisfied by (i) the issue of 60,676,666 ordinary shares of 10 pence per share in Andes, to the vendors of Kilwer; (ii)
the issue of a US$10,000,000 convertible bond with a term of 5 years and an interest rate of 11% per annum; and (iii) the issue of a
US$25,000,000 bond with a term of 10 years and an interest rate of 11% per annum.
Based on the unaudited financial statements of the acquiree as at 30 September 2012 and a provisional valuation report the
estimated financial effect of the acquisition is summarised below:

Net assets acquired
Intangible assets
Property plant and equipment
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Deferred tax
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition
Total purchase consideration

Book
Value
US$

Fair value
adjustments
US$

Fair value

1,805,123

98,594,877

100,400,000

3,504

-

3,504

1,575

-

1,575

2,818,945

-

2,818,945

US$

(529,059)

-

(529,059)

(2,634,302)

-

(2,634,302)

-

(33,995,182)

(33,995,182)

1,465,786

64,599,695

66,065,481
(13,953,112)
52,112,369

Net cash inflow on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Less: Shares issued for non cash consideration

(21,990,741)

Less: Convertible bonds issued for non cash consideration

(30,121,628)

52,112,369
30,121,628
-

Add: Cash and cash equivalents

1,575
1,575

On 11 April 2013 the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Ketsal S.A. (“Ketsal”). The consideration for the
acquisition was satisfied through (i) the issue of 82,781,457 ordinary shares of 10 pence per share in Andes, to the vendors of
Ketsal and (ii) the issue of a US$56,000,000 bond with a term of 10 years and an interest rate of 8% per annum.

Our Financials

Kilwer S.A.

Our Governance

36. Post balance sheet events
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36. Post balance sheet events (continued)
Based on the unaudited financial statements of the acquiree as at 31 December 2012 and a provisional valuation report the
estimated financial effect of the acquisition is summarised below:
Ketsal S.A.

Net assets acquired
Intangible assets
Property plant and equipment
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Social security and other taxes
Deferred tax

Book
Value
US$

Fair value
adjustments
US$

Fair value

3,536,300

110,813,700

114,350,000

10,014

-

10,014

9,013

-

9,013

1,236,969

-

1,236,969

(634,803)

-

(634,803)

(522,353)

-

(522,353)

(1,347,386)

-

(1,347,386)

-

(37,984,081)

(37,984,081)

2,287,754

72,829,619

75,117,373

US$

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition
Total purchase consideration

66,021,085

Net cash inflow on acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Less: Shares issued for non cash consideration

(26,581,167)

Less: Convertible bonds issued for non cash consideration

(39,439,918)

(9,096,288)

66,021,085
39,439,918
-

Add: Cash and cash equivalents

9,013
9,013

On 29 April 2013 the Company exercised its option to convert the principal amounts of the convertible loans due to the vendors of
Kilwer and Ketsal in accordance with the terms of the respective stock purchase agreements.
Under the terms of the Kilwer stock purchase agreement the principal outstanding and interest due for the period from 11 March
2013 to 29 April 2013 on the US$10,000,000 convertible loan, was satisfied by the issue of 19,008,166 new ordinary shares at a
price of 35p per share.
Under the terms of the Ketsal stock purchase agreement the principal outstanding and interest due for the period from 11 April
2013 to 29 April 2013 was satisfied by the issue of 115,183,413 new Ordinary Shares at a price of 32p per share.
MGM International S.R.L
On 4 June 2013 the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of MGM International S.R.L., which has a 49.92% interest
in a joint venture which operates two oil producing fields in the province of Mendoza. The primary reason for the acquisition was
to increase the Group’s reserves and production in Argentina. The initial net production for the Group is 1,089 bpd and net proven
reserves are 3.3 million bbls. The initial consideration for the acquisition was satisfied through the issue of 29,533,333 new Andes
ordinary shares. Further consideration, up to a maximum of £9,450,666 (US$14,459,519), will become payable if certain conditions
are met, including the achievement of minimum production levels. Any additional consideration due will be paid in two tranches in June
2014 and June 2015 and will be satisfied through the issue of Ordinary Shares at 32 pence, subject to adjustment in the event of a
capital distribution, re-organisation or re-structure. Due to the proximity of the acquisition to the approval of the financial statements, the
directors have been unable to determine the fair values of both the assets and liabilities acquired and the contingent consideration.
On the same day, the Company also entered into a US$10,000,000 convertible facility agreement with Mercuria Energy Asset
Management B.V. (“Mercuria”). The loan carries interest at a rate of 11% per annum, which will be capitalised, with the loan principal
and accrued interest repayable 5 years from the date of drawdown. Mercuria may, at any time, convert in whole or part, the loan
including accrued interest, into Andes ordinary shares at a price of 26 pence per share, subject to adjustment in the event of a
capital distribution, re-organisation or re-structure.
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